
1 

 

IN THE SUPREME COURT 

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

NO. 29443 

________________________________________________________________________ 

TERESA BURGI, INDIVIDUALLY, AND TERESA BURGI, AS GUARDIAN 

AD LITEM FOR KALEB RAYMOND BURGI, 

Plaintiffs and Appellants, 

vs. 

EAST WINDS COURT, INC., 

Defendant and Appellee. 

______________________________________________________________________ 

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT 

FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

YANKTON COUNTY, SOUTH DAKOTA 

______________________________________________________________________ 

THE HONORABLE DAVID KNOFF 

CIRCUIT JUDGE 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

APPELLANTS’ BRIEF 

______________________________________________________________________ 

 

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT:  ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE: 

 

David J. King      Mark Arndt 

101 N. Phillips Ave, Ste 602    101 N. Main Ste 213 

Sioux Falls, South Dakota 57104   PO Box 2790 

       Sioux Falls, SD 57101 

Kirk D. Rallis 

101 N. Phillips Ave, Ste 602 

Sioux Falls, South Dakota 57104 

 

 

NOTICE OF APPEAL FILED: OCTOBER 23, 2020 



i 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

           Page 

TABLE OF CONTENTS…………………………………………………………………i 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES..............................................................................................iv 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT.........................................................................................1 

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION...................................................................................1 

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT…………………………………………………...1 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES........................................................................................1 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE...........................................................................................4 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS.........................................................................................4 

STANDARD OF REVIEW AND AUTHORITIES……………………………………..16  

ARGUMENT.....................................................................................................................16 

I. Whether there are genuine issues of material fact that East Winds Court, 

Inc. knew that the dog was dangerous? 

 

II. Whether there are genuine issues of material fact as to whether East Winds 

Court, Inc.’s property manager had actual knowledge of the Pitbull’s 

dangerous propensities? 

 

III. Whether there are genuine issues of material issue of fact concerning the 

landlord’s negligence in the common area? 

 

IV. Whether the Pitbull’s attack was foreseeable based upon the totality of the 

circumstances?  

 

V. Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgement?  

 

 

CONCLUSION..................................................................................................................35 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE..........................................................................................35 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE.................................................................................36 



ii 

 

APPENDIX........................................................................................................................39 

  



iii 

 

 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

STATUTES: 

SDCL § 15-26A-66 (b)(4) Length of briefs……………………………………………35 

SDCL § 15-26A-3(4) Judgments and orders of circuit courts from which appeal may be 

taken…………………………………………………………………………………......1 

SDCL § 15-6-56(a) Summary judgment for claimant ………………………………..3,4 

SDCL § 59-3-2 Actual authority defined…………………………………………….2,23 

SDCL § 59-6-5 Notice to agent or principal. ..............................................................2,26 

SDCL § 59-6-9 Responsibility of principal for agent’s negligence or omission…….2,27 

SOUTH DAKOTA CASES: 

Aetna Life Ins. Co. v. McElvain, 363 N.W.2d 186 (SD 1985)………………………...2,26 

Boe v. Healy, 84 S.D. 155, 168 N.W. 2d 710 (1969)…………………..2,3,16,25,26,28,31 

Clausen v. Kempffer, 477 N.W. 2d 257, 1991 S.D. LEXIS 176………………...2,16,17,20 

Continental Grain Co. v. Heritage Bank, 548 N.W.2d 507…………………………....3,33 

Cowan Bros., L.L.C. v. Am. State Bank, 743 N.W. 2d 411…………………………...15,16 

Dakota Provisions, LLC v. Hillshire Brands Co., 226 F. Supp. 3d 945 (S.D. 2016)….2,23 

Dahl v. Sittner, 429 N.W. 2d 458, 1988 S.D…………………………………………..2,23 

England v. Vital, 838 N.W.2d 621………………………………………………………17 

First Am. Bank & Trust, N.A. v. Farmers State Bank, 756 N.W. 2d 19………………3,30 

Gehrts v. Batteen, 620 N.W.2d 775 (S.D. 2001)………………………………………3,30  

Gertsema v. State Farm, 778 N.W. 2d 609 (S.D. 2010)…………………………2,3,21,33 

Hass v. Wentzlaff, 816 N.W. 2d 96 (S.D. 2012)……………………………………….2,27 



iv 

 

Laber v. Koch, 383 N.W. 2d 490 (S.D. 1986)…………………………………………...16 

McGuire v. Curry, 766 N.W.2d 501…………………………………………………...3,30 

Norris v. Chicago, M. St. P. & P. R.R., 74 S.D. 271…………………………………..2,29 

Northstar Mutual Ins. Co. v. Rasmussen, 734 N.W. 2d 352, 356 (S.D. 2007)…………..15 

Rehm v. Lenz, 547 N.W. 2d 560 (S.D. 1996)…………………………………………….16 

Rowland v. Log Cabin, Inc., 2003 S.D. 20, 658 N.W. 2d 76, 2003…………...2,3,17,30,32 

Satterlee v. Johnson, 526 N.W. 2d 256 (S.D. 1995)…………………………………….16 

Smith v. Lagow Constr. & Dev.Co., 202 SD 37, 642 N.W. 2d 187, 2002……………..2,28 

St. Onge Livestock co. v. Curtis, 2002 SD 102, 650 N.W.2d 537………………..2,3,22,34 

State Farm Auto. Ins. Co. v. Gertsema, 778 N.W. 2d 609……………………………21,34 

Walther v. KPKA Meadowlands Ltd. Pshp., 581 N.W. 2d 527………………………..2,29 

Wiggins v. Pay’s Art Store, 47 SD 443, 447, 199 N.W. 122,123 (1924)………………..16 

Wilson v. Great Northern Ry. Co., 83 S.D. 207, 157 N.W.2d 19 (1968)………………..16 

 

OTHER AUTHORITIES: 

Strunk v. Zoltanski, 62 N.Y.2d 572………………………………………………………17 

 

 

 

 



1 

 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 Throughout this brief, Plaintiff and Appellants will be referred to by “Appellant” 

and/or “Burgi”.  Defendant and Appellee will be referred to as “Defendant” or “East 

Winds Court”.  All references to the transcript of the Summary Judgment proceeding 

September 22, 2020 shall be referred to as “SJ 09/22/20” followed by the appropriate 

page number(s).  All references to the transcript of the Summary Judgment proceeding of 

September 25, 2020 shall be referred to as “SJ 09/25/20” followed by the appropriate 

page number(s). 

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

 Appellant appeals from the Summary Judgment entered by Honorable David 

Knoff of the Second Judicial Circuit in favor of Appellee on September 25, 2020.  

Appellant brings appeal pursuant to SDCL § 15-26A-3(4).  Notice of Appeal was filed on 

October 23, 2020. (R.A. 1000). 

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT 

 Appellants hereby respectfully request oral argument on the issues set forth in this 

appeal.  

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

East Winds Court, Inc. is the owner of a trailer court in Yankton, South Dakota. 

East Winds Court, Inc. is owned by Attorney John Blackburn from Yankton, S.D. It 

leased one of its’ lots to tenant Pasman.  Pasman owned a large, aggressive, territorial 

Pitbull dog named “Marco” who attacked K.R.B., a minor.  The trial court found that 
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East Winds Court, Inc. did not have actual knowledge of the dangerous propensities of 

the dog and therefore, it was not liable for K.R.B.’s injuries. 

VI. Whether there are genuine issues of material fact that East Winds Court, Inc. 
knew that the dog was dangerous? 
 
The trial court concluded that no questions of material facts exist.  
 

• Rowland v. Log Cabin, Inc., 658 N.W. 2d 20 (S.D. 2003) 

• Clausen v. Kempffer, 477 N.W. 2d 257, 1991 S.D. LEXIS 176 

• Gertsema v. State Farm, 778 N.W.2d 609 (S.D. 2010) 

• St. Onge Livestock co. v. Curtis, 2002 SD 102, 650 N.W.2d 537 

VII. Whether there are genuine issues of material fact as to whether East Winds 
Court, Inc.’s property manager had actual knowledge of the Pitbull’s dangerous 
propensities? 

 
The trial court concluded that no questions of material facts exist.  

 

• Dakota Provisions, LLC v. Hillshire Brands Company, 226 F. Supp. 3d 945 

(S.D. 2016) 

• Boe v. Healy, 168 N.W.2d 710, 713 (S.D. 1969) 

• S.D.C.L § 59-6-5 

• Aetna Life Ins. Co. v. McElvain, 363 N.W.2d 186 (1985) 

• S.D.C.L § 59-6-9 

• Hass v. Wentzlaff, 816 N.W. 2d 96 (S.D. 2012) 

 
VIII. Whether there are genuine issues of material issue of fact concerning the 

landlord’s negligence in the common area? 

 
The trial court concluded that no questions of material facts exist.  

 

• Smith v. Lagow Constr. & Dev. Co., 202 SD 37, 642 N.W. 2d 187, 2002 

• Boe v. Healy, 84 S.D. 155, 168 N.W. 2d 710 (1969) 
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• Norris v. Chicago, M., St. P. & P.R. Co., 74 S.D. 271, 273, 51 N.W.2d 792, 

793 (1952).   

• Walther v. KPKA Meadowlands Ltd. Partnership, 581 N.W.2d 527, 535 

 
IX. Whether the Pitbull’s attack was foreseeable based upon the totality of the 

circumstances?  

 
The trial court concluded that no questions of material facts exist.  

 

• Rowland v. Log Cabin, Inc., 2003 S.D. 20, 658 N.W. 2d 76, 2003 

• McGuire v. Curry, 766 N.W.2d 501 (S.D. 2009) 

• First American Bank & Trust, N.A. v. Farmers State Bank, 756 N.W.2d 19, 

26 (S.D. 2008) 

• Boe v. Healy, 84 S.D. 155, 159-160, 168 N.W.2d 710, 712-13 (1969) 

X. Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgement?  

 
The trial court concluded that no questions of material facts exist.  

 

• Rowland v. Log Cabin, Inc., 2003 S.D. 20, 658 N.W. 2d 76, 2003 

• Continental Grain Co. v. Heritage Bank, 548 N.W.2d 507 

• Gertsema v. State Farm, 778 N.W.2d 609 (S.D. 2010) 

• St. Onge Livestock co. v. Curtis, 2002 SD 102, 650 N.W.2d 537 

• S.D.C.L. § 15-6-56(a) 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Teresa Burgi filed suit against East Winds Court, Inc. on October 8, 2019 in the 

Circuit Court, First Judicial Circuit, Yankton County. (R.A. 1) This is a dog bite case 

wherein K.R.B., a minor, was attacked by a tenant of East Winds Court’s dog, the owner 

of the trailer park.   East Winds Court, Inc. moved for Summary Judgment (R.A. 97). On 
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September 28, 2020, the Circuit Court the Honorable David Knoff granted East Winds 

Court, Inc.’s Motion for Summary Judgment (R.A. 989) and Order Granting Defendant’s 

Motion for Summary Judgment pursuant to SDCL § 15-6-56(a) (R.A. 989-990).  The trial 

court found that Burgi failed to prove that East Winds Court, Inc. had actual knowledge 

of the dangerous propensities of the dog and as such could not be held liable for injuries 

to K.R.B.  On October 23, 2020 Burgi filed Notice of Appeal appealing the trial court’s 

granting of summary judgment in favor of East Winds Court, Inc. (R.A. 1000). 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

 East Winds Court, Inc., is an older trailer park court, located in rural Yankton 

County, South Dakota. It has 68 units. There are many dogs there, and many young 

children. (RA 604, Galvin Deposition page 12 lines 8-25). Tenants are required to sign a 

lease when they move in. Lot rent is $165.00 per month.  (RA 755, R. Pasman Deposition 

page 6 line 12). 

 John Blackburn is an attorney practicing in Yankton, South Dakota. He owns 

several rental properties. (RA 568, Blackburn Deposition page 5 lines 5-8). He has been 

in the rental business as an owner for over 50 years. (RA 571, Blackburn Deposition page 

8 lines 21-22). Blackburn purchased East Winds Court, Inc. in 2005. (RA 569, Blackburn 

Deposition page 6 lines 5-7).  

 Blackburn wrote the lease that Pasman signed. (RA 577, Blackburn deposition 

page 14 lines 12-15).  The express language of the lease limits pets to “harmless, non-

vicious, safe pets.” At the time of his statement to the insurance adjuster on March 12, 
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2018 Blackburn could not even remember whether or not the lease had any language in it 

about animals.  Blackburn told the insurance adjuster: 

Q. Okay.  Is there any verbiage in there about animals? 

A. I don’t know. 

 

(R.A. 736). 

 At the time of his deposition Blackburn did not think that East Winds Court had 

any actual written leases.  (RA 574, Blackburn deposition page 11 lines 7-9).  Later he 

admitted that he looked the leases over and assisted in drafting them.  (RA 577, 

Blackburn deposition page 14 lines 12-15).   

 Blackburn testified that he personally visited East Winds Court, Inc. on average 6 

times per year. (RA 574, Blackburn deposition page 11 lines 17-18). Since Pasman 

moved into East Winds Court in 2010 that means that Blackburn had personally 

inspected the trailer park at least 42 times at the time that K.R.B. was mauled. Blackburn 

testified: 

 Q. And in that time would you see dogs in the court? 

 A. I don't have an independent recollection of that, but I'm sure that I've seen dogs 

 in the court. 

 

(RA 574, Blackburn deposition page 11 lines 21-22).  

Ron Galvin is the property manager for East Winds Court, Inc. (RA 578, 

Blackburn deposition page 15 lines 7-20). Galvin worked for John Blackburn properties 

for over twenty-three (23) years. (RA 597, Galvin Deposition page 5 line 23). Galvin 

testified that he monitored the trailer park. He testified that he drove through it every 

single day. (RA 600, Galvin deposition page 8 lines 22-23).   

 Q. When you would visit East Winds, as you stated on a regular or daily   

 basis, what did you do when you would go there on a daily basis? 



6 

 

 A. What did I do when I went on there? 

 Q. Correct. 

 A. I would drive up and down the courts, make sure the lots were clean,   

 cars weren't parked on the street during the winter so I could do the snow   

 removal. Anything that was a violation of the rules or maybe I saw as a   

 coming problem, I would check it out. 

 

(RA 601, Galvin deposition page 9 lines 21-25, and page 10 lines 1-5).  

Galvin also knew about the no dangerous or vicious dog provisions in the lease. 

Galvin testified: 

A. No, I'm not. We had a pet policy, just that they not have-non-vicious and it 

couldn't be-disturb the neighbors and stuff like that. It was never you can't 

have pets. 

 Q.  Okay. Are you aware that some -the leases included a no vicious animal  

  policy? 

  A.  I know-yes, it's a no vicious animal policy. 

 

(RA 602, Galvin deposition page 10 lines 17-23).  

 Mari Pasman (Ron Pasman's daughter) was the original owner of the Pitbull. (RA 

923, M. Pasman deposition page 5 lines 4-14). The Pitbull was inappropriately teased 

while living with Mari. (RA 932, M. Pasman deposition page 41 lines 22-25 and RA 933 

page 42, lines 1-6). The Pitbull was a very strong dog. (RA 933, M. Pasman Deposition 

page 42 lines 11-13). The dog was also a "jumper". He would jump on people. He was 

high strung and needed lots of exercise. (RA 925, M. Pasman deposition page 12 lines 3-

4 and lines 16-18). Marie Pasman lived in a small confined apartment (very similar in 

size to her Dad's trailer at East Winds trailer park). (RA 925 M. Pasman deposition page 

13, lines 15-21). Therefore, several years ago, Mari gave the Pitbull to Pasman. When she 

gave the dog to her father, she bought two Beware of the Dog signs and helped post them 

on the front of his trailer. (RA 926 M. Pasman deposition page 14, lines 9-14). The 

Beware of the Dog signs were visible from the road in front of Pasman's trailer at East 
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Winds Court trailer park. (RA 926 M. Pasman deposition page 15, lines 4-11. Mari 

believed that people should really stay away from him. (RA 932 M. Pasman deposition 

page 38, lines 23-25). 

 Ronald Pasman has been a long-term tenant living in a trailer at East Winds 

Court, Inc. having moved in in 2010. He has a forty-year-old trailer, single wide.  (RA 

755 R. Pasman deposition page 7, lines 1-4).  His lease was a month-to-month lease.  

Specifically, ¶ 14 of the lease provided (in pertinent part): 

14. This is a month-to-month lease unless otherwise specified in 

writing and requires TENANT to give LANDLORD in WRITING 

at least thirty (30) days’ notice before vacating the premises. (RA 

945) 

(See also, RA 614, Galvin Deposition page 22 lines 19-21).  Furthermore, according to 

the express language of the lease he signed with East Winds Court, Inc. Pasman was not 

allowed to have any vicious or mean animal. (RA 573 Blackburn deposition page 10 lines 

3- 6). Specifically, ¶section 13 of his lease stated: 

13.  PETS: TENANT assumes all responsibilities for pets. Dogs are 

only allowed on TENANT'S property. Dogs are not allowed to run 

free in East Winds Court. Barking of dogs, day or night is not 

allowed. Only harmless, non-vicious, safe, pets such domestic 

dogs, housecats and indoor birds are allowed within East Winds 

Court, Inc. without the prior written permission of the 

LANDLORD. TENANTS are prohibited from keeping any other 

type or description of pet or animal or reptile. If a TENANT has a 

noisy pet such as a barking dog, the TENANT will have to 

purchase at the TENANTS own expense a muzzle and keep it on 

his /her dog at all times to prevent barking. 

 

(RA 945). 

 

 The Pitbull was originally given to Pasman four years before it attacked K.R.B. 

by his daughter, Mari Pasman, because she could no longer keep him due to noise 
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complaints from all of his barking. (RA 908 Eagleman deposition page 7 lines 17-25, 

page 8 line 1).  Pasman described the dog as a big dog, just as big as any German 

Shepard, husky, big boned, with big muscles.  (RA 755 R. Pasman deposition page 9, line 

25 to RA 756 page 10, line 3).   The dog lived his life on the end of a thick 10 to 12-foot-

long heavy chain, secured to the hitch on the front of Pasman's trailer. (RA 756, R. 

Pasman deposition page 11 line 13-15). (RA 909 Eagleman deposition page 10 lines 18-

21). Pasman never kept the dog in the backyard but only on the chain in front of his 

trailer. (RA 909 Eagleman deposition page 10, lines 22-24). The dog was secured to the 

trailer hitch chained with a body harness because it was so big and strong. (RA 756, R. 

Pasman deposition page 11 lines 17-22).  There was no fence or kennel to contain the 

dog. (RA 911, Eagleman deposition page 20 lines 16-18).  It was a pure-bred Pitbull.  

(RA 760 R. Pasman deposition page 28, lines 19-20).  Pasman testified that he had the 

dog principally for protection. (RA 760, R. Pasman deposition page 26 lines 5, 11). As 

Pasman indicated in his deposition, if you want to come for him you have to "go through 

my dog" first. (RA 775, R. Pasman deposition page 88 lines 3-4). He testified that the 

dog was a headstrong, big bodied dog with aggressive tendencies. (RA 764, R. Pasman 

deposition page 43 lines 9-11, RA 772 page 77 lines 18-19, and 22, RA 775, page 87 

lines 20-25, and RA 775, page 88 lines 1-4). He wanted an aggressive dog, so that any 

other dog that came around him or his house his Pitbull “would tear them up.”  (RA 760 

R. Pasman deposition page 26, lines 7-8).  Pasman believed that the trailer court was a 

rough place.  “You’ve got more thieves here than you can have on Goddamn Rikers 

Island.  I see what goes on here.”  (RA 763, R. Pasman deposition page 38 lines 23-25).  

Ominously, he stated that the insurance adjuster who came to take his statement after the 
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Burgi attack was “lucky I didn’t have the dog then.”  (RA 761, R. Pasman deposition 

page 33 lines 12-13).  Because the truth is as Pasman testified, “I got a dog here and 

you’re going to end up getting hurt.”  (RA 763 R. Pasman deposition page 38, lines 11-

12).   

Immediately after getting the Pitbull Pasman put two "Beware of Dog" signs out 

front of his property to warn the public, other trailer court residents and East Winds 

Court. Inc. management of the Pitbull’s danger to the public. (RA 761, R. Pasman 

deposition page 30 line 1 and RA 774 page 84, line 15). Pasman testified that you would 

have had to have been blind not to see the two large posted Beware of Dog signs.  (RA 

763, R. Pasman deposition page 39 line 15).   "I got a dog here and you're going to end up 

getting hurt". (RA 763, R. Pasman deposition page 38 lines 11-12). It should also be 

noted that the dog had had previously been in fights with other dogs. (RA 910, Eagleman 

deposition page 16 lines 22-23).  

Teresa Burgi is a long-term tenant of East Winds Court, Inc. having lived there 

for the past fifteen years. (RA 580 Blackburn deposition page 17 lines 23-25) (RA 548, 

Burgi deposition page 6 line 16). Teresa Burgi is in her early forties raising three (3) boys 

by herself. (RA 548, Burgi deposition page 6 line 8). Unfortunately, all three of her boys 

have disabilities. (RA 550 Burgi Deposition page 13, lines 22, RA 550 page 14, line 3-5). 

She is K.R.B.’s mother. K.R.B. has significant cognitive disabilities. (RA 550 Burgi 

deposition page 13, line 22).   

 K.R.B., at the time of the incident, was a twelve (12) year old boy who had been 

previously diagnosed with severe autism. (RA 550, Burgi deposition page 14 line 9 and 

RA 550, page 15, line 5-7). He was on an independent education plan (IEP) at his school 
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because of his severe learning disabilities. (RA 550 Burgi deposition page 15, line 25, 

RA 550, page 16, line 1, RA 552 page 22, line 19-22).  K. R. B. is small for his age.  The 

Pitbull was every bit as big as K.R.B. if not bigger.  (RA 764 R. Pasman deposition page 

43, lines 9-14).   

 Pasman had this large, dangerous Pitbull on the premises in violation of the 

express terms of the Pasman lease.  The consequences to Pasman for violating the lease 

were substantial.  The very first page of the East Winds Court lease agreement with 

Pasman provided that: 

The breach, default, failure, or violation of any one of the terms of this 

lease, without limitation of other rights, shall entitle LANDLORD to 

terminate this lease, re-enter and take over possession forthwith. 

(R.A. 943). 

  

 Galvin gave varied and competing stories about what he knew about the dog. 

Galvin's statements include the following: 

  It just seems like a dog and it was always way back at the end of his lot, so 

  I really never got to know the dog. He didn't even bark when I came up to  

  the house, so I really_ they don't have to-they are not required to tell me  

  they have a pet unless it on our property, and then um-you know, one of  

  our homes, and then I just explain to them the rules and everybody knows  

  you can’t let your dog run loose and outside of your yard[.] 

Galvin statement to adjuster. (RA 482).  

A: No, I knew it was-it was a fairly good-sized dog, but it wasn't huge. I 

am-I don't think it’s as big as my lab, but I don't know. Somewhere in-like 

I said, it wasn't close enough to really know, I don't remember because 

like I said, it was in the back and I never went back to introduce myself to 

the dog. You know how that goes. 

Galvin statement to adjuster. (RA 484).   Galvin denied even knowing that Pasman’s dog 

was a Pitbull.  (RA 603, Galvin Deposition page 11 lines 9-12). 



11 

 

 Janice Anderson, Mr. Pasman's next door neighbor, was all too aware of the dog 

and the very real danger he posed. Anderson was afraid of the dog. She knew that it was 

aggressive. If anyone even came anywhere near it, the pit bull would get physically 

aggressive with that person. Even when she mowed the lawn, the dog was so aggressive 

that he would literally try to bite her lawnmower. She noted that "You shouldn't walk up 

to this dog." It barked at every passerby. She believed that it would attack anyone within 

his reach. Anderson stated that the dog never should have been allowed into the trailer 

court in the first place. Anderson believes that East Winds Court, Inc. was well aware of 

it and that they knew it was dangerous. (RA 877 & 878 Affidavit of Janice Anderson ¶5, 

¶8, ¶9, ¶10, ¶13, ¶14, ¶15 and ¶16). 

 J.E. and E.S. are Pasman's grandsons. They are about the same age as K.R.B.  

(RA 765, R. Pasman deposition page 48 lines 3-8).  They had stayed with Pasman at 

times over the years. (RA 908, Eagleman deposition page 7 line 2). During that time 

frame, Pasman always had the dog. (RA 908 Eagleman deposition page 6, lines 23-25 

and page 7, lines 1-2). K.R.B. lived about 3 trailers down from Pasman. K.R.B. is 

someone that J.E. and E.S. knew well and who they frequently played with. (RA 914 

Eagleman deposition page 30, lines 17-19).   

 On September 3, 2017, the date of the incident, that morning, K.R.B. went over to 

the common area to play basketball with J.E. and E.S. (RA 765, R. Pasman deposition 

page 48 lines 1-19).  The basketball hoop was located on the Street in front of and 

directly next to where Pasman had the dog chained to the hitch in front of his trailer. (RA 

765, R. Pasman page 48 lines 9-24).  It was common for the neighborhood boys to play 

basketball in the common area, (the private street in front of Pasman's trailer.) (RA 909 
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Eagleman deposition page 11 lines 15-25, and RA 909 page 12, lines 14, RA 768, page 

58 lines 5-8).  Of course, while playing basketball the ball would sometimes bounce 

further out in the street or go under a parked car or bounce up by Pasman's trailer. (RA 

909 Eagleman deposition page 12, lines 3-14). No one ever told the boys not to play 

basketball in the street. (RA 910 Eagleman deposition page 13, line 24 to RA 910, page 

14 line 1). The basketball hoop was located right outside Pasman's home on a private 

dead-end street, solely owned and maintained by East Winds Court, Inc.  (RA 765, R. 

Pasman deposition page 48 lines 17-24).  This was in the exact same spot on the road 

where the young boys had played basketball many times before. (RA 915 Eagleman 

deposition page 34, lines 17-25, and RA 915 page 35 lines 1-6). While playing 

basketball, predictably a ball bounced and went onto Pasman's leased property near to 

where the dog was chained up behind Pasman’s van. (RA 908 Eagleman deposition page 

6, lines 7 and 8). K.R.B. went to retrieve the ball and the dog brutally ran him down from 

behind and attacked him, tearing his face apart. In Pasman’s words the dog “went off on 

him.”  (RA 756, R. Pasman deposition page 11 line 5). 

It should be noted that at no time did K.R.B. provoke or startle the dog. (RA 911 

Eagleman deposition page 17 lines 7-10). The dog was not hit by the basketball or 

disturbed in any manner. (RA 911 Eagleman deposition page 19 lines 3-7). K.R.B. had 

never previously teased Marco. (RA 915 Eagleman deposition page 34, lines 12-13).  In 

short, there was no reason for the dog to attack, other than it was a large, aggressive, 

territorial Pitbull.   

 East Winds Court, Inc. through Galvin and Blackburn knew about the dog. 

Blackburn stated in his statement given to United Fire Group on March 9, 2018: 
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 Q. Okay. So, the property manager and yourself were not aware of the tenant dog 

 much less it being a pit bull. Now this pit bull is chained outside. Is this 

 something that the manager never observed or yourself? 

 A. I-I never did. Whether my property manager did, I don't know. When I see 

 chained, he could have been just tied, but he was in Mr. Pasman's [sic] yard. 

 Q. Mm-hm. Okay. So we-we do not know if he actually had a collar and leash on 

 him. 

A. Oh, he was-the was-um-the dog was restrained. He was tethered, but I don't 

know whether it was a chain or a rope or what. (Blackburn Statement dated 

3/12/18 page 3).  

 

Later in his deposition, Blackburn expounded on his knowledge: 

 Q. Were you aware that Ron Galvin, the property manager at the time, was aware 

 of the pit bull residing at Mr. Pasman's property? 

 A. No. In fact his statement says he thought it looked more like a lab mix. 

 

(RA 577 Blackburn deposition page 14 lines 20-24). 

According to Ron Pasman, “everybody knew I had a dog.  The whole 

neighborhood knew that he had a dog.”  (RA 759 R. Pasman deposition page 24, line 25 

to page 25, line 1 and RA 760 page 29, line 3).  Pasman testified that Galvin knew about 

the Pitbull.  (RA 760, R. Pasman deposition page 29 lines 19-20).  Similarly, J.E. 

testified: 

 Q. All right. Do you think that all of the neighbors knew that your grandpa had 

 Marco? 

 A. Yeah. 

 Q. How would they have known that, Josh? 

 A. Because he's outside all the time. 

 

(RA 913 Eagleman deposition page 26, lines 9-13.) 

 East Winds Court, Inc. never took any steps in the previous four to five years to 

ascertain the dangerous propensities of this large, strong Pitbull constrained on a thick 

chain link that jumped on people, barked and was definitely a danger to the neighbors 

with two "Beware of Dog" signs publicly posted on the front of the trailer, all right next 
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to a basketball hoop on common property. This “looking the other way” on the Pitbull 

was done despite the express prohibition in their own lease. This utterly foreseeable and 

preventable mauling could have been and should have been prevented. The property 

manager of East Winds Court, Inc., Galvin, admits that he drove by the property almost 

every day. (RA 600, Galvin deposition page 8 lines 22, 23) Galvin admits that it was his 

duty to maintain the common area of the property and to inspect the properties for 

hazards, including dangerous dogs. (RA 602, Galvin deposition page 10 lines 3-4, and 

RA 606 page 14 line 21-22). Had Galvin simply moved the basketball hoop in the 

common area away mere feet away from where the dangerous pit bull was chained, this 

would have been prevented.  Has Blackburn and/or Galvin simply enforced their own 

lease, this never would have happened. 

 After this incident East Winds Court, Inc. began investigating and enforcing its’ 

own written lease and removing dogs from the trailer court. In fact, the trailer court 

removed several other dangerous dogs only after the Burgi mauling took place. (RA 587, 

Blackburn deposition page 24 line 7-10). Galvin talked to Pasman after Burgi was 

mauled and told him to get rid of the dog and to not get another Pitbull.  (RA 775 R. 

Pasman deposition page 87, lines 5-8).  On September 21, 2017 (about two weeks after 

the Burgi mauling) East Winds Court issued an “Open letter to all tenants of East Winds 

Court” which stated in pertinent part: 

In the last couple of months we have had some serious problems with dogs 

in the Court… So for now no Pitbull’s, Rottweiler’s or Doberman’s will 

be allowed in the court… We are taking this very seriously.  If there is a 

dog that is aggressive in any way…[i]t will have to be removed from the 

court or that tenant will have to move. 

(R.A. 480). 
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So clearly, East Winds Court was aware that they were having “serious problems 

with dogs in the court.”  And East Winds Court confirmed in the September 21, 2017 that 

it retained power over the leased property: “[i] t will have to be removed from the court 

or that tenant will have to move.”  (R.A. 480).  East Winds Court also clearly knew that it 

was having problems with dogs in the court for at least a period of “months” i.e., in the 

time prior the Pitbull’s attack on K.R.B. This neglect was despite East Winds Court’s 

knowledge that it was having problems with dogs in the court.  And, it should be noted, 

that it is only after the incident that the basketball hoop was promptly taken down. (RA 

774, R. Pasman deposition page 85 lines 1-3). 

 Based upon the Pasman lease the Pitbull should never even have been at the 

trailer park. Blackburn's statements as to the lease are equivocal and inconsistent. He 

testified that "I don't think that we had written leases." (RA 574, Blackburn deposition 

page 11 lines 7-9).  Blackburn identified Pasman as “[n]ot a problem tenant.”  (Blackburn 

Statement March 12, 2018 page 5). And certainly, there is economic incentive for a 

landlord to rent 68 trailer court units out at $165.00 per month and simply look the other 

way when half the trailer court had dogs, including Pitbulls and other large dangerous 

dogs. Only after the Burgi attack that East Winds Court force the removal of the other 

Pitbulls and aggressive dogs in the trailer court.   

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 This is an appeal from the trial court’s grant of East Winds Court, Inc.’s Motion 

for Summary Judgment. The standard of review for Summary Judgment is well settled. 

The reviewing court must determine whether the moving party has demonstrated the 

absence of any genuine issue of material fact and showed entitlement to judgment on the 
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merits as a matter of law.  The evidence must be viewed most favorably to the 

nonmoving party and reasonable doubts should be resolved against the moving party. 

Cowan Bros., L.L.C. v. Am. State Bank, 743 N.W. 2d 411, 416 (2007). This Court’s task 

on appeal is to determine only whether a genuine issue of material fact exists and whether 

the law was correctly applied. Northstar Mutual Ins. Co. v. Rasmussen, 734 N.W. 2d 352, 

356 (S.D. 2007). In doing so, the Court undertakes an independent view of the record. Id. 

“The burden of proof is upon the movant to show clearly that there is no genuine issue of 

material fact, and that he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Id. 

ARGUMENT 

 This is not a case that can be decided on Summary Judgment. Summary Judgment 

should not be granted except in the rare case where the moving party has established the 

right to judgment with such clarity as to leave no room for controversy.  Rehm v. Lenz, 

547 N.W. 2d 560 (S.D. 1996).  Summary judgment is proper only where no genuine issue 

of material fact is present, and judgment should be awarded to the movant as a matter of 

law.  Id. On a motion for summary judgment, the record must be viewed in a light most 

favorable to the non-moving party, and reasonable doubts should be resolved against the 

moving party.  Cowan Brothers L.L.C. v. American State Bank, 743 N.W.2d 411, 416 

(S.D. 2007).  Summary judgment is generally not feasible in actions where there is 

conflicting testimony as to material facts.  Laber v. Koch, 383 N.W.2d 490 (S.D. 1986).  

Similarly, summary judgment is not generally appropriate in cases involving questions of 

negligence.  Satterlee v. Johnson, 526 N.W.2d 256 (S.D. 1995); Wilson v. Great 

Northern Ry. Co., 83 S.D. 207, 157 N.W.2d 19 (1968).   
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 The law of premises liability is based on possession and control.  W. Keeton, D. 

Dobbs, R Keeton, D. Owen, Prosser, and Keeton on the Law of Torts 57, at 386.  The 

general rule regarding a landlord’s liability is a landlord having parted with full 

possession of the premises to the tenant is not liable for injury to third persons caused by 

the tenant’s negligence.  Wiggins v. Pay’s Art Store, 47 S.D. 443, 447, 199 N.W. 122, 

123 (1924).  There are many exceptions to this rule. Clausen v. Kempffer, 477 N.W.2d 

257 (S.D. 1991).  One significant exception is where the lessor retains control of a 

common area of the premises which the lessee is entitled to use as appurtenant to the 

leased portion.  Boe v. Healy, 84 S.D. 155, 168 N.W.2d 710 (1969).  Courts have 

imposed liability on landlords where the landlord had knowledge that the tenant may 

carry on activities on the premises that unreasonably expose third parties to the risk of 

physical injury.  (See, Clausen v. Kempffer, 477 N.W.2d 257 (S.D. 1991) citing, Strunk v. 

Zoltanski, 62 N.Y.2d 572, 468 N.E.2d 13, 15, 479 N.Y.S.2d 175 (1984) (tenants owned 

vicious dogs of which landlord was aware),  additionally, as noted above, liability may 

attach where, as here, the landlord reserves a right of re-entry, and where he reserves any 

right to control what activities were performed on the land or how they were conducted.  

Clausen v. Kempffer, 477 N.W.2d 257 (S.D. 1991).  (See also, Englund v. Vital, 838 

N.W.2d 621 (S.D. 2013) (Justice Konenkamp (Concurring in result) (The question is 

whether the landlord retained control). 

ISSUE I 

THERE ARE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERAL 

FACT AS TO WHETHER EAST WINDS COURT, INC. 

HAD ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE OF THE PITBULL’S 

DANGEROUS PROPENSITIES. 
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 As will be set forth from an analysis of the facts below, East Winds Court, 

Inc. knew about the Pitbull and that it was dangerous. And, whether or not East Winds 

Court, Inc. knew about the dangerous Pitbull is a question of fact for the jury to decide.  

(See, Rowland v. Log Cabin, Inc., 658 N.W.2d 20 (S.D. 2003). 

Blackburn testified that he did not personally know that Pasman had a Pitbull prior to 

September 2017.  (RA 579, Blackburn deposition page 16 lines 17-19, RA 587, page 24 line 24).  

Of course, later in his deposition Blackburn confessed to having talked to Pasman, and that 

Pasman told him the Pitbull had never bitten anyone.  (RA 588, Blackburn deposition page 25 

lines 2-3).  It should be noted that Blackburn testified that he personally drove up and down the 

trailer park a half dozen times per year.  (RA 574, Blackburn deposition page 11 lines 17-18).  

Blackburn acknowledged that the trailer court had restrictions on the types of animals a tenant 

was allowed to have at the trailer court.  (RA 574, Blackburn deposition page 11 line 25 to RA 

575, page 12 lines 1-2).  Furthermore, Blackburn gave a recorded statement to an insurance 

adjuster and stated that he knew about the Pitbull and that it was chained to the front of the 

trailer.  (Recorded Statement of John Blackburn dated 03/9/18). (Appendix Exhibit 13). 

Blackburn testified that in the years prior to the Burgi mauling he never saw the two 

large “Beware of Dog” signs affixed to the front of Pasman’s trailer.  (RA 582, Blackburn 

deposition page 19 lines 1-5).  Blackburn testified that if he had only saw the “Beware of Dog” 

signs he would have followed up on the dangerous propensities of the Pitbull. (RA 582 Blackburn 

deposition page 19). Blackburn maintains that he would have investigated.  “Somebody puts up 

a beware of dog sign, they must have knowledge that their dog could be a problem, and we’re 

just not allowing problem dogs, then or now, if we know about them.”  (RA 582, Blackburn 

deposition page 19 lines 8-11).  He testified that he would have had the Pitbull removed from 

the trailer park.  (RA 585, Blackburn deposition page 22 lines 15-18).  Following the Burgi attack 
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by the Pitbull, Blackburn had at least 3 to 4 other Pitbulls removed from the trailer court.  (RA 

587, Blackburn deposition page 24 lines 7-13). 

 This Pitbull was a dangerous, large, strong, protective, and territorial Pitbull dog with 

two “Beware of the Dog” signs who spent its life on a chain secured to the hitch in front of 

Pasman’s trailer.  A headstrong Pitbull.  (RA 772, R. Pasman deposition page 77 lines 18-19).  

Anyone who passed by would believe that the dog was indeed dangerous.  (RA 933 M. Pasman 

Deposition page 42, line 25 and page 43, lines 1-4).  Pasman wanted it to be dangerous.  The 

Pitbull was there for protection. (RA 760 R. Pasman deposition Page 26, lines 5, 11, RA 764, page 

43 lines 4-7). 

Janice Anderson, Pasman’s immediate next-door neighbor, certainly knew that 

the Pitbull was dangerous.  She saw the dog daily on its’ chain.  She was afraid of it.  She 

knew that it was very aggressive.  If anyone came near it, it would lash out and try to 

attack.  When she tried to mow her own lawn, it would try to bite her lawnmower.  She 

stated “[y]ou shouldn’t walk up to this dog.”  It barked at all passersby.  It would attack 

anyone within the reach of its’ chain.  Anderson believes that the Pitbull was so 

dangerous that it never should have even been allowed in the trailer park.  Anderson 

believes that East Winds Court was aware of it and how dangerous it was. (R.A. 877, 

Janice Anderson Affidavit lines 4-17) Blackburn, the owner of East Winds Court 

indicated in his deposition that he had not ever seen the two large “Beware of Dog” signs 

until his deposition.  (RA 581, Blackburn deposition page 18 lines 23-25, RA 582 page 

19 lines 1-2). Specifically, Blackburn testified: 

Q. Do you see the picture there where it has the van in the driveway with the 

beware of the dog signs on the front of the trailer? 

A. I did not see that before but I do now.  Yes, I see that. 
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Q. So you’ve never seen that – in times that you’ve been on the premises, 

you’ve never seen those signs? 

A. No, I can assure you, I did not see those signs or I would have taken 

action. 

Q. What action would you have taken? 

A. I would have investigated.  Somebody puts up a beware of the dog sign, 

they must have some knowledge that their dog could be a 

problem, and we’re just not allowing problem dogs, then or now, if we 

know about them. 

 

(RA 581 Blackburn deposition page 18 lines 23-25, RA 582 page 19 lines 1-11).  

 

Blackburn admits that they would have investigated, and should have 

investigated, if they had known about the signs, and that the signs put them on notice that 

the dog was a problem. (RA 582, Blackburn deposition page 19 lines 8-11).  

Additionally, he admits that at the time of the injury “we’re just not allowing problem 

dogs.”  The lease Blackburn prepared specifically prohibited this type of animal. In other 

words, here the landlord testified that the trailer court reserved the right of re-entry and 

reserved the right to control what was allowed on the leased premises.  Clausen v. 

Kempffer, 477 N.W.2d 257 (S.D. 1991). 

 It should be noted that the facts in Clausen are a far cry from the facts herein.  In 

Clausen, the premises were leased by the tenant on October 1, 1987 and the tenant took 

possession.  Id. at page 258. The landlord then moved to San Diego, California.  On 

October 10, 1987, just 10 days after taking possession of the leased premises, a third 

party was injured on the leased premises.  In Clausen, the landlord reserved no right of 

re-entry, and he did not reserve any right to control what happened on the leased premises 

or how they were conducted.   Id. at page 261. 

In sharp contrast, here, Pasman lived on the leased premises for many years 

(pursuant to a month to month lease).  For five years Pasman had a large Pitbull for 
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protection in violation of his lease agreement with East Winds trailer court trailer park. 

Here, East Winds Court did not part with full possession of the leased premises.  The 

very first page of the East Winds Court lease agreement with Pasman provided that: 

The breach, default, failure, or violation of any one of the terms of this 

lease, without limitation of other rights, shall entitle LANDLORD to 

terminate this lease, re-enter and take over possession forthwith. 

 

(R.A. 943). 

 

In the present case, not only did East Winds Court have the express right to re-

enter and take over possession of the leased premises, it also retained control over the 

dogs and other animals allowed on the leased premises.  Specifically, ¶section 13 of his 

lease stated: 

13.  PETS: TENANT assumes all responsibilities for pets. Dogs are 

only allowed on TENANT'S property. Dogs are not allowed to run 

free in East Winds Court. Barking of dogs, day or night is not 

allowed. Only harmless, non-vicious, safe, pets such domestic 

dogs, housecats and indoor birds are allowed within East Winds 

Court, Inc. without the prior written permission of the 

LANDLORD. TENANTS are prohibited from keeping any other 

type or description of pet or animal or reptile. If a TENANT has a 

noisy pet such as a barking dog, the TENANT will have to 

purchase at the TENANTS own expense a muzzle and keep it on 

his /her dog at all times to prevent barking. (RA 945) 

 

And it is not enough for East Winds Court to look the other way and subjectively state 

that they “didn’t know.”  The South Dakota Supreme Court has previously established 

that summary judgment is inappropriate where defendants subjectively claim rules 

proscribing conduct and that their rules were enforced as a material issue of fact existed 

as to the very existence of the rules, the scope of the rules, and the enforcement of the 

rules.  Gertsema v. State Farm, 778 N.W.2d 609 (S.D. 2010).  Thus, whether or not East 

Winds Court enforced its’ own lease is a genuine issue of material fact.  Id. 
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Pasman had two Beware of the Dog signs posted literally on the front of his 

trailer, mere feet from the common property (the private road) at East Winds Court.  

Furthermore, the landlord, or his agent certainly in the five years Pasman had the Pit Bull 

must have seen the signs.  (RA 768 R. Pasman deposition page 60, lines 11-17).  East 

Winds Court, Inc. either ignored the obvious problem for years and did nothing or it did 

know about the obvious problem and did nothing about it.  In either event, East Winds 

Court cannot simply now claim subjective ignorance in this tragically preventable attack.  

Of course, after K.R.B. was mauled, Blackburn called Pasman and told him on no 

uncertain terms that either the dog goes or he has to leave the park immediately. (RA 579 

Blackburn deposition page 16 lines 7-10).  Pasman got rid of the dog.  (RA 775, R. 

Pasman deposition page 86 lines 13-16).   

Blackburn’s testimony is contradictory.  He did not know about the leases, later 

he wrote the leases, the leases had provisions about no vicious dogs.  Which of those 

competing statements is true? Similarly, Blackburn testified that he didn’t know about the 

dog, then he testified that he talked with Pasman about the dog and Pasman told him it 

had never bitten anyone, and third that he knew he had a dog but it was always chained 

up to the front of Pasman’s trailer (right next to the two large Beware of Dog signs).  

What is a reasonable jury to conclude based upon those varied and competing 

statements?  A jury needs to listen to Blackburn’s, Galvin’s, Anderson’s and Pasman’s 

testimony and decide for itself the facts and decide what (if any) of this testimony is 

credible.  Summary judgement should not be granted in this case based upon the 

subjective statement “I didn’t know.”  Blackburn’s various statements and testimony are 

inconsistent and equivocal.   
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 Summary judgment requires not only that there be no genuine issue of material 

fact, but also that there be no genuine issues on inferences to be drawn from those facts.  

St. Onge Livestock Co., Ltd. v. Curtis, 650 N.W.2d 537 (S.D. 2002).  A reasonable juror 

could reasonably infer from these facts presented that East Winds trailer court, Blackburn 

and/or Galvin knew about the dog and that it was dangerous. A reasonable juror, upon 

examining this evidence, might reach different conclusions than the trial court.  At the 

very least, genuine issues of material fact exist in this case making summary judgment 

inappropriate in this case.  The case should be tried on the merits.  Dahl v. Sittner, 429 

N.W.2d 458 (S.D. 1988). 

ISSUE II 

THERE ARE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERAL FACT 

AS EAST WINDS COURT, INC.’S PROPERTY 

MANAGER HAD ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE 

OF THE PITBULL’S DANGEROUS PROPENSITIES. 

 

 Again, Galvin was East Winds Court’s property manager for many years at the 

trailer park. (RA 219 Galvin deposition page 5, line 23). As such, Galvin had actual 

authority conferred upon him by Blackburn and East Winds Court, Inc. to manage all 

aspects of the trailer park. S.D.C.L. § 59-3-2.  Under South Dakota law, the principal may 

be held responsible for the agent’s negligent acts or omissions.  Dakota Provisions, LLC 

v. Hillshire Brands Company, 226 F. Supp. 3d 945 (S.D. 2016). 

Galvin testified that he stopped and talked to Pasman one time “a couple of 

months ago” when he first saw the dog.  Galvin stated in his recorded statement to the 

insurance adjuster: 

A: No. I don’t know. Awe, man. I would guess he had the dog three or four 

months and what he had said to me is it was a daughter a relative or something 
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and he took it temporarily and that’s all I know, uh-and that was-that just came up 

in conversation. He didn’t strike me as the type of guy to go out and buy a dog 

because he lives by himself and he works, it’s kind of hard to take care of a pet.  

 

(Galvin Statement to insurance adjuster. Page 2). (RA 482).  Additionally, Galvin told the 

insurance adjuster: 

A. I don’t know if he was watching it or he took it because they couldn’t take care of it.  
It was-it was just kind of a grey area.  He just said it was so-and-so’s dog.  And like I 
say my hearing is bad.  He said it was so-and-so’s dog and I just got it and so that 
was ______.   

 

(R.A.482).  Then, in his sworn deposition testimony, Galvin testified that he first learned 

that Pasman had the Pitbull: 

A. I would say at least a couple of months before the incident, at least, if not a little bit 
longer.  I went – I was driving by, I saw the dog.  He didn’t have a dog so I stopped to 
ask him and talk to him about it, and he told me that the dog was temporary.  And I 
think he said it was actually his daughter’s dog, but she couldn’t keep it where she 
was so – he said I guess I got a dog for a little while.  I think that was the whole 
conversation.  And I saw the dog, you know, so I moved on.  

(RA 615, Galvin deposition page 23 lines 5-13) 

 

 Later, also in his statement to the insurance adjuster, Galvin stated as follows: 

 
A. …No, with-with this dog, I didn’t even know.  It just seemed like a dog and it was 

always way back at the end of his lot, so I really never got to know the dog.  He 
didn’t even bark when I came up to the house, so I really _____ they don’t have to-
they are not required to tell me they have a pet unless it’s on our property, and then 
um-you know, one of our homes, and then I just explain to them the rules and 
everybody knows that you can’t let your dog run loose and outside of your yard. 

 

(Galvin statement to insurance adjuster page 2). (R.A. 482).  Of course, Pasman never 

once had the dog in the backyard.  Never.  (RA 771, R. Pasman deposition page 71 line 

24 to RA 771, page 72 lines 1-9).  

Of course, none of that is true.  The very reason that Pasman even had the dog in  

the first place was because his daughter could no longer keep him due to noise 

complaints from all of his barking. (RA 908 Eagleman deposition page 7 lines 17-25, 

page 8 line 1). While living with Pasman, the dog lived his entire life on the end of a 
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thick 10 to 12-foot-long heavy chain, secured to the hitch on the front of Pasman's trailer. 

(RA 756, R. Pasman deposition page 11 line 21). (RA 909 Eagleman deposition page 10 

lines 18-21). There was no fence or kennel to contain the dog. (RA 911 Eagleman 

deposition page 20, lines 16-18). Pasman had the dog at East Winds trailer court for at 

least four years leading up to the incident. (RA 755, R. Pasman deposition page 9 line 

25). 

 A landlord is deemed to have knowledge of a dangerous condition when the 

condition existed for such a period of time as to justify the conclusion that, in the exercise 

of ordinary care, he should have known of its existence within such time as would have 

given him a reasonable opportunity to remedy the condition or where the exercise of 

reasonable care he could have discovered the defective condition and made it safe. 

Knowledge may be implied from the long-continued existence of the defect.  Boe v. 

Healy, 168 N.W.2d 710, 713 (S.D. 1969) (citations omitted).   

Pasman testified that he had the Pitbull for four to five years before the K.R.B.’s 

injury (not the couple of months that Galvin testified to).    Galvin testified that he drove 

through the trailer court multiple times a day, every day, back and forth.  Galvin was 

“always out there” i.e., at the trailer park.  (RA 771, R. Pasman deposition page 72 line 

11).  That works out to over a thousand times that Galvin drove right past the Pasman’s 

“Beware of the Dog” signs and yet claimed that he never noticed them.  (“No.  Like I 

said, I haven’t seen them, or I don’t – I’m not aware of them.”)  (RA 607 Galvin 

Deposition page 15 lines 6-7).  The beware of the dog signs were quite visible from the 

private road in front of Pasman’s trailer.  (RA 772, R. Pasman deposition page 74, lines 

1-25).  A reasonable juror may not believe that Galvin drove by the property every day 
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for four or five years and never once noticed the two large signs nailed to the front on 

Pasman’s trailer.    

Pasman believed that Galvin knew all about the Pitbull:  Pasman testified: 

Q. So Ron Galvin knew about the dog? 

A. Yeah. 

Q. Yes? 

A. Everybody knew about it, yeah. 

Q. And Ron Galvin knew you had the beware of the dog signs up? 

A. Yeah, everybody saw them. 

 

(RA 768, R. Pasman deposition page 60 lines 11-17). 

 

The legal effect of Pasman’s knowledge is clear.   

  S.D.C.L. § 59-6-5 provides as follows: 

As against a principal both principal and agent are deemed to have notice 

 of whatever either has notice of, and ought, in good faith and the exercise 

 of ordinary care and diligence, to communicate to the other. 

 

(Emphasis added).  The fact that the knowledge of the agent was not actually 

communicated to the principal will not prevent operation of this rule of agency law.  

Aetna Life Ins. Co. v. McElvain, 363 N.W.2d 186 (1985).   

 In Boe v. Healy, 84 S.D. 155, 168 N.W. 2d 710 (1969), a landlord was found 

liable for a chimney defect that led to a fire 18 months after a tenant had signed a lease of 

the property. The court noted “The condition in the chimney existed for such a length of 

time that defendant in the exercise of due care should have discovered it.”  That legal 

proposition holds here.  A reasonable landlord, a reasonable property manager for a 

trailer park, in a four to five year time frame, would have noticed the two “Beware of 

Dog” signs, learned of the purposes for keeping the dog (which was for protection) and 

investigated the dog, discovered its’ dangerous, headstrong behavior, talked to the 

neighbors about it and would have taken decisive action to remove the Pitbull from the 
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trailer park or ordered that the tenant build a fenced in kennel.  None of that happened 

here.   

 Galvin’s negligence is East Winds Court’s negligence.  S.D.C.L. § 59-6-9 states 

(in pertinent part) that: 

[A] principal is responsible to third persons for the negligence of his agent 

in the transaction of business of the agency[.] 

 

Thus, East Winds Court is responsible for the negligence of Galvin.  This is the rule of 

respondeat superior. Under the doctrine of respondeat superior the question of whether 

the act or omission occurred by the agent, is a question of fact for the jury.  Hass v. 

Wentzlaff, 816 N.W.2d 96 (S.D. 2012). 

Galvin knew about the Pitbull and the “Beware of Dog” signs.  

Q. And in that picture, there are two beware of dog signs posted on his trailer.  

  Have you seen those? 

A. I don’t remember seeing them, but I can’t say for sure. 

Q. But you would drive by his—his trailer every day, as you said, and you 

never noticed the beware of dog signs when you would drive by his 

property? 

A. This was over two years ago.  I was just ending my management time, and 

I don’t recall seeing the beware of dog signs. 

 

(RA 605 Galvin deposition page 13 lines 22-25).   

 

Thus, Galvin’s deposition testimony is equivocal.  “I don’t remember seeing them 

but I can’t say for sure.”  In Galvin’s statement to the insurance adjuster, he stated “it 

wasn’t my _____ I didn’t see it, so I didn’t do anything.”  (A key word is obviously left 

blank.  Burgi’s assume that Galvin’s statement to the insurance adjuster actually reads as 

follows: “it wasn’t my fault, I didn’t see it, so I didn’t do anything.”)  Later in his 
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Deposition, Galvin testified that ‘I don’t recall seeing beware of dog signs.  (RA 606, 

Galvin deposition page 14 lines 5-6).   

Pasman certainly believed that Galvin knew about Pasman’s dog and saw the 

“Beware of Dog” signs. (RA 768, R. Pasman deposition page 60 lines 15-17).  At the 

very least, genuine issues of material fact exist making summary judgment inappropriate 

in this case. 

ISSUE III 

THERE ARE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT  

CONCERNING THE LANDLORD’S NEGLIGENCE IN THE COMMON AREA. 

 

 A landlord has a duty to maintain the safe physical condition of the common 

areas.  Smith v. Lagow Construction & Developing Co., 642 N.W.2d 187 (S.D. 2002).  

Where a landlord reserves control over a portion of the premises, a failure to carefully 

maintain that area creates tort liability.  Boe v. Healy, 84 S.D. 155, 168 N.W. 2d 710 

(1969). 

 East Winds Court allowed and countenanced having a basketball hoop/basketball 

court on its’ private street in the trailer park directly in front of Pasman’s leased concrete 

slab.  The basketball hoop was located in the common area in front of Pasman’s trailer, 

where the dangerous Pitbull was chained up and two “Beware of Dog” signs were placed. 

(RA 611, Galvin deposition page 19 lines 12-17).  Galvin testified that it was his job to 

maintain the common area of the property. (RA 602, Galvin deposition page 10 lines 1-

5). 

Q. Okay.  The one that has the basketball hoop, are you aware that children 

played basketball in the street? 

A. No. 

Q. Is that against the policy of East Winds Court, Inc.? 
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A. Well, I don’t know that we’ve ever had a policy about kids playing in the 

street.  I mean, it’s common sense, you shouldn’t do it.  I would think that 

would be a parental responsibility. 

 

(RA 581, Blackburn deposition page 18 lines 7-14).  

 

 Similarly, Galvin testified: 

Q. And so you’re aware that children would play basketball there in the street 

at all? 

A. I can’t see which way the basket is facing, but evidently, they might have, 

yeah? 

 

(RA 611, Galvin deposition page 19 lines 24-25, RA 612, page 20 lines 1-2).   

 

As a general rule, the “possessor of land owes an invitee or business visitor the 

duty of exercising reasonable or ordinary care for his safety and is liable for the breach of 

such duty.”  Norris v. Chicago, M., St. P. & P.R. Co., 74 S.D. 271, 273, 51 N.W.2d 792, 

793 (1952).  It is true that the landlord-tenant arrangement creates no “special 

relationship” between the landlord and the tenant.  However, landlords have a duty to 

maintain the safe physical condition of the common areas within their control.  Walther v. 

KPKA Meadowlands Ltd. Partnership, 581 N.W.2d 527, 535.  It is undisputed that the 

basketball hoop/court were solely on common property owned by East Winds Court.  

Therefore, East Winds Court had a duty to maintain the safe condition of this common 

area.  Id.  Here, only after the incident did East Winds Court act like a reasonable and 

responsible landlord would act and should act by removing the basketball hoop in its’ 

street.  A multi-tenant landlord must do more than collect the rent. Here, it was, in part, 

the negligence in the common area by the landlord the placement and countenance of 

allowing the basketball hoop on common property directly in front of the Pitbull that led 

to a foreseeable and tragic incident when K.R.B. was horribly mauled.  
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Here, it is both foreseeable and preventable that having a basketball hoop on 

common property directly in front of a large barking Pitbull with two Beware of Dogs 

signs would foreseeably cause a ball to bounce onto Pasman’s property between the 

basketball hoop and a dangerous pit bull sitting right there would bite. East Winds Court 

violated its’ duty to maintain the common area.  A child playing basketball in a common 

area and retrieving a ball is entirely foreseeable.  At the very least, a genuine issue of 

material fact exists making summary judgment inappropriate in this case.  (See, Rowland 

v. Log Cabin, Inc., 658 N.W.2d 20 (S.D. 2003). 

ISSUE IV 

THE PITBULL’S ATTACK WAS 

FORESEEABLE BASED UPON THE 

TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES. 

 

The South Dakota Supreme Court has been very clear that there are two separate 

avenue’s available to the injured to establish foreseeability and negligence in dog bite 

cases.   Rowland v. Log Cabin, Inc., 658 N.W.2d 76 (S.D. 2003).  First, a plaintiff in a 

dog bite case may argue that the owner knew or should have known of the dog’s 

dangerous propensities; or secondly, that under the totality of the circumstances, injury to 

the plaintiff was reasonably foreseeable.  Id. In Gehrts v. Batteen, 620 N.W.2d 775 (S.D. 

2001), the Court reiterated again that even when one does not know of an animal’s 

dangerous propensities the ordinary negligence standard of foreseeability will still be 

applied. (Rowland v. Log Cabin, Inc., 2003 S.D. 20, 658 N.W. 2d 76). Where an injury is 

foreseeable a duty may exist where not otherwise recognized.  McGuire v. Curry, 766 

N.W.2d 501 (S.D. 2009); First American Bank & Trust, N.A. v. Farmers State Bank, 756 

N.W.2d 19, 26 (S.D. 2008). 
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Here, the trial court focused mainly on the first avenue of foreseeability test 

(knowing a dog’s dangerous nature) and since Blackburn and Galvin refused to even 

admit that they knew about the Pitbull, the Court granted summary judgment.  Here, the 

trial court, virtually ignored the second avenue repeatedly elucidated by this Court, to 

prove foreseeability, namely that one must also consider the totality of the circumstances.  

“The Court notes that there’s no facts to show that the defendant through 

John Blackburn or through the property manager Mr. Galvin had any 

direct knowledge of the dangerous propensity of the dog before the 

incident that took place where the child was injured.” (First Judicial 

Circuit Court’s Ruling on September 25, 2020, page 4 lines 6-10). 

 

In Rowland, following the totality of the circumstances test to determine 

foreseeability, this Court held that whether a reasonable person would have realized that a 

large, Akita dog in a small bar with drunken patrons involved an unreasonable risk of 

harm is a question of fact for the jury.  Here, a reasonable person would have realized 

that a large dangerous Pitbull, with a lifetime spent being chained upon a leash, with 

neighbors that feared it, barking at passersby, with two large “Beware of Dog” signs, 

when small children are running around the common areas and playing basketball on a 

basketball court directly in front of this dangerous Pitbull created an unreasonable risk of 

harm to those kids, and specifically K.R.B.. It is also a question of fact for the jury.  Id.  It 

is a well-established principle, that when a landlord reserves control over a portion of the 

premises, a failure to carefully maintain that area creates tort liability.  Boe v. Healy, 84 

S.D. 155, 159-160, 168 N.W.2d 710, 712-13 (1969).   

ISSUE V 

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN 

GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT. 
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The South Dakota Supreme Court has repeatedly stated and specifically reiterated 

in dog bite cases, that questions of negligence, contributory negligence and assumption of 

the risk are all for the jury to determine in all but the rarest of cases so long as there is 

any evidence to support the case.  Rowland v. Log Cabin, Inc., 658 N.W.2d 76 (SD 

2003).  The Supreme Court in Rowland reiterated that the test is not solely whether the 

Defendant knew of any dangerous propensities of the dog.  It is not the sole factor to be 

considered.  Rather, the duty to foresee a risk of harm (from a dog) is dependent upon all 

the surrounding facts and circumstances and may require further investigation or inquiry.  

Rowland v. Log Cabin, Inc., 658 N.W. 2d 76 (SD 2003).  

Here, the trial court ruled that: 

  The Court notes that there’s no facts to show that the defendant through  

  John Blackburn or through the property manager Mr. Galvin had any  

  direct knowledge of the dangerous propensity of the dog before the  

  incident that took place where the child was injured.  

  The Court finds there were beware of dog signs on Mr. Pasman’s property  

  that were visible out front chained up from time to time and that the  

  property manager would drive through the trailer park and had an   

  opportunity to observe those things. The Court finds that there was – well,  

  there was nothing presented that Mr. Galvin or Mr. Blackburn ever  

  actually saw a beware of dog sign. 

  Mr. Galvin was aware that there was a dog. There’s some evidence that he 

  encountered the dog and I think maybe even touched the dog or pet the  

  dog, but no evidence that any aggressive tendencies were shown at that  

  time. The Court – there’s no fact to show that again that the defendant or  

  defendant’s agents had any actual knowledge of any dangerousness of the  

  dog. 

 

(Court’s Ruling, TR Page 4)(R.A. 1076 lines 6-25). 

 

 This is a misapplication of the law regarding summary judgment.  The trial court 

placed the burden of proof on the Burgis to prove that Blackburn or Galvin admitted 

knowledge of the dangerous dog, that they admitted seeing the “beware of dog” signs.  
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The Court: But the plaintiff does have the burden of proof in this case, 

doesn’t – 

Mr. King: No question. 

The Court: And the plaintiff has to show that East Winds had either 

specific knowledge of the dangerous propensities of the 

dog.  And it sounds like there is no evidence of that. 

Mr. King: Well, I think that there is, but they haven’t admitted it.  If 

you are forcing us to say have they admitted it, no, they 

have not admitted it. 

 

(Transcript of the Record of Motion Hearing dated September 22, 2020). R.A. 1046 page 

11, lines 14 to 25; and page 12, lines 1-8). (R.A. 1046, 1047). 

 Of course, at trial, the plaintiff does indeed have the ultimate burden of proof.  

However, this was a summary judgment hearing.  Therefore, East Winds Court carried 

the burden of proof to show that there was no genuine issue of material fact and that it 

was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  The trial court, as noted about, improperly 

placed the burden of proof at the summary judgment hearing on the plaintiff, who was 

resisting the motion, not where the burden of proof properly belongs, on the party moving 

for summary judgment.  

 Compounding the error, the trial Court at the summary judgment hearing 

improperly placed the burden on the plaintiffs to prove Blackburn and Galvin’s 

subjective knowledge.  The burden is not on the party resisting summary judgement to 

prove subjective knowledge of the adverse party.  The law of summary judgment in 

South Dakota does not come down to the repetitious use of a tautology.  If that were so, 

many cases would be disposed of by simply stating “I didn’t know.”  “I didn’t know.”  

That is not the law concerning summary judgment.  The credibility of the denials of the 

alleged lack of knowledge must be determined by the jury, and not resolved on a motion 

for summary judgment.  Continental Grain Co. v. Heritage Bank, 548 N.W2d 507 (S.D. 
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1996).  (Cf, Gertsema v. State Farm, 778 N.W.2d 609 (S.D. 2010) (summary judgment 

inappropriate where defendants subjectively claim rules proscribing certain conduct and 

that their rules were enforced as a material issue of fact exists as to the very existence of 

the rules, the scope of the rules, and the enforcement of the rules).  Again, summary 

judgment requires not only that there be no genuine issue of material fact, but also that 

there be no genuine issues of inferences to be drawn from those facts.  St. Onge Livestock 

Co., Ltd. v. Curtis, 650 N.W.2d 537 (S.D. 2002).   

All the above demonstrates that genuine issues of material fact that prevent the 

Court from determining this case on a motion for summary judgment.  However, here, 

that factual determination by the trial court is contrary to sworn deposition testimony, 

sworn affidavit testimony, equivocal and varied statements by Blackburn and Galvin and 

is clearly erroneous in ruling on a motion for summary judgment.  At the very least, 

genuine issues of material fact exist in this case based upon the totality of the 

circumstances. This is not a case that can be decided on a motion for summary judgment.  

S.D.C.L. 15-6-56(a).   

CONCLUSION 

Burgi’s respectfully request this Court, based on the arguments above and the 

authorities cited, reverse the trial court’s Order granting Summary Judgment and remand 

the matter back to the First Circuit for a trial on the merits.    

Dated this ______ day of May, 2021. 

     KING LAW FIRM, P.C. 

 

      ____________________________ 

     David J. King 
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 PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 Citations to the Certified Record are “R.” followed by the applicable page 

number(s) in the Clerk’s Index.  References to Appellants’ Brief are “Appellants’ Brief” 

followed by the applicable page number(s).  Plaintiff/Appellant Teresa Burgi is the 

mother of the minor child who was injured and will be referred to as “Teresa Burgi.”  The 

Plaintiff/Appellant/minor child who was injured will be referred to as “K.R.B.”  

Plaintiffs/Appellants are jointly referred to as “Plaintiffs”.  Defendant/Appellee East 

Winds Court, Inc. will be referred to as “East Winds.”  The Third-Party tenant/dog 

owner, Ronald Pasman, will be referred to as “Pasman”.  Pasman’s dog, which bit 

K.R.B., was named “Marco”.      

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 Plaintiffs appeal the Circuit Court’s Order (Honorable David Knoff, First Judicial 

Circuit, Yankton County) dated September 28, 2020, granting Summary Judgment in 

favor of Defendant East Winds.  R.989.  Notice of Entry of Order and Judgment was 

served via Odyssey File and Serve, and via email on September 30, 2020.  R.991.  

Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal on October 16, 2020.  R.1000.  This Court has 

jurisdiction pursuant to SDCL § 15-26A-3(1).  

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

Whether the Circuit Court erred in granting Summary Judgment 

in favor of Defendant East Winds based upon a lack of legal duty 

owed by East Winds to the Plaintiffs 

The Circuit Court ruled that the dog bite of K.R.B. by Marco occurred on third-

party tenant, Ronald Pasman’s lot, which lot was leased to Pasman by East Winds.  The 

Circuit Court specifically ruled that the dog bite did not take place in a common area of 
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East Winds’ mobile home park.  The Circuit Court further ruled that East Winds, as a 

landlord, did not owe a legal duty to the Plaintiffs to protect K.R.B. from injuries caused 

by another tenant’s negligence, which took place on that tenant’s leased lot.   

• Walther v. KPKA Meadowlands Ltd. P’ship, 1998 S.D. 78, 581 N.W.2d 527. 

• Clauson v. Kempffer, 477 N.W.2d 257 (S.D. 1991). 

• Smith v. Lagow Const. & Develop. Co., 2002 S.D. 37, ¶ 13, 642 N.W.2d 187. 

The Circuit Court also ruled that no material fact exists to indicate that East 

Winds, as the landlord of the mobile home park, had actual knowledge that Pasman 

maintained a dangerous dog.  Without knowledge of a dangerous dog, East Winds did not 

owe a legal duty to the Plaintiffs to prevent the dog from biting K.R.B.  As a result, East 

Winds was entitled to Summary Judgment as a matter of law.   

• Ridley v. Sioux Empire Pit Bull Rescue, Inc., 2019 S.D. 48, 932 N.W.2d 576.  

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 At the conclusion of discovery, on September 28, 2020, the Circuit Court, 

Honorable David Knoff, First Judicial Circuit, Yankton County, granted Summary 

Judgment in favor of East Winds.  R.989.   

The subject matter of this lawsuit is a dog bite.  While on another tenant’s leased 

lot, Plaintiff K.R.B., a minor child, was bitten by another tenant’s (Pasman’s) dog, 

Marco.  (R.1, Complaint ¶¶ 8-9); see also R.137 (Pasman’s lease).  Instead of suing 

Pasman, Plaintiffs sued East Winds.  Plaintiffs’ Complaint against East Winds alleges: 

(1) Negligence; (2) Negligence Per Se; and (3) Breach of Contract.  R.1-6.  (Plaintiffs’ 

Brief does not specifically argue Plaintiffs’ breach of contract or negligence per se 

claims.  East Winds believes that Plaintiffs have waived those two legal theories via this 

appeal.)  Plaintiffs allege that East Winds had a legal duty to protect K.R.B. from 
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Pasman’s dog, and therefore, Plaintiffs allege that East Winds is liable to the Plaintiffs for 

K.R.B.’s (a minor child) injuries.  (R.1, Complaint).  East Winds denied liability and filed 

and served a Third-Party Complaint against Pasman.1  R.40-44. 

Following the completion of discovery, East Winds moved for Summary 

Judgment.  R.97.  East Winds’ Motion for Summary Judgment argued that East Winds 

did not owe a legal duty to the Plaintiffs to prevent the dog of another tenant from biting 

K.R.B. in a non-common area of the mobile home park.  R.102-105.  East Winds also 

argued that no material fact exists to support any claim that East Winds had knowledge 

that Pasman was housing a dangerous dog.  R.105-107. 

After granting Plaintiffs two extensions to complete additional discovery and 

submit supplemental pleadings, a hearing was held before the Honorable David Knoff on 

September 22, 2020.  R.1036.  The Circuit Court held an additional hearing on September 

25, 2020, at which time the Circuit Court articulated its ruling on the record granting East 

Winds’ Motion for Summary Judgment.  R.1074-1079.  The Circuit Court specifically 

found that the dog bite did not take place in a common area.  R.1076.  The Circuit Court 

also ruled that Plaintiffs did not submit any evidence that created an issue of disputed 

material fact that East Winds, or its representatives, had any knowledge that Marco had 

demonstrated any dangerous behavior prior to Marco biting K.R.B.  R.1077.    

The Circuit Court also ruled that there was no basis for Plaintiffs’ breach of 

contract claim against East Winds.  R.1080-1081.   

                                                 
1 In order to permit this appeal to proceed, following the Circuit Court Order granting 

Summary Judgment in favor of East Winds, East Winds dismissed its Third-Party 

Complaint against Pasman, without prejudice.  R.1009. 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

On September 3, 2017, K.R.B. was bitten by a dog on the lot of another East 

Winds’ tenant.  R.114.  Ronald Pasman (“Pasman”) was the tenant and owner of the dog.  

R.1.  The dog’s name was Marco.  R.114.  Pasman leased a lot for his mobile home from 

East Winds since 2010.  R.137-141.   

K.R.B. lived with his mother, Teresa Burgi (“Burgi”), and siblings in the East 

Winds’ mobile home park.  R.116 (Undisputed Facts ¶¶ 14-18).  The Burgis lived four 

units away from Pasman.  R.116 (Undisputed Fact ¶ 18); R.132 (Burgi Depo. at 34:17-

20).    

The Incident    

The incident took place entirely on the lot that Pasman leased from East Winds.  

R.1 (Complaint ¶¶ 8-9); R.136 (Burgi Depo. at 53:11-18).  The incident did not take 

place in a common area.  R.136 (Burgi Depo. at 53:11-18).  Marco was chained to the 

hitch of Pasman’s trailer.  R.115, R.121.  K.R.B. walked to the location of Marco and 

bent down to grab a basketball that was next to Marco when Marco bit K.R.B. in the face.  

R.121, R.908.   

Marco’s History 

 Marco, a pit bull, was given to Pasman by his daughter, Mari Pasman (“Mari”).  

R.924-925 (Mari Depo. at 8:3-18; 10:2-8).  Mari purchased Marco as a puppy and raised 

him until he became too big to live in her apartment.  R.923, R.926 (Mari Depo. at 5:4-7; 

16:24-17:4).   

When Mari gave Marco to her father, she also purchased two “Beware of Dog” 

signs to post on Pasman’s mobile home.  R.926 (Mari Depo. at 14:9-21).  Mari testified 
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that she purchased the signs simply because Marco was present and to give people notice 

that a dog was on site.  R.927 (Mari Depo. at 20:25-21:7).   

Although it may not be material to this appeal, contrary to Plaintiffs’ assertions, 

Marco did not “live his life on a chain”, nor was he “always chained up”.  See 

Appellants’ Brief at 8, 19, 23, 25, and 32.  Pasman testified that Marco was kept inside, 

and when he was let out, Marco would be secured to the hitch of the mobile home by a 

chain.  R.761 (Pasman Depo. at 30:7-13).  When Pasman went to work, he would leave 

Marco inside the mobile home.  R.761 (Pasman Depo. at 30:21-31:8).   

 With respect to Marco’s temperament, Pasman testified that Marco “never had a 

problem with anybody the four years I owned him, give or take about that age.  The 

mailman used to come up to him and play with him, even when I wasn’t there.”  R.756 

(Pasman Depo. at 10:1-7).   Marco “played with a lot of other people who would come up 

to him willingly.”  R.756 (Pasman Depo. at 12-13).  Pasman even expressed his disbelief 

about the incident, stating, “I don’t know, you know, but he never hurt nobody.  Never 

showed any aggression towards anybody.  Always jumped up on everybody with his big 

paws, you know, and start licking them and just wagging his tail.  He never had a 

problem with anybody.”  R.756 (Pasman Depo. at 10, 14-18).  

Mari Pasman also testified that she did not have any problems with Marco, stating 

that, “he was good.”  R. 928-929 (Mari Depo. at 23:23-24:4).  Mari described Marco as a 

“big dog and he’s friendly.”  R.932 (Mari Depo. at 38:25-39:1).  She would have people 

over and never had any issues with Marco.  “He never hurt anybody…”  R.925 (Mari 

Depo. at 11:23-12:2).  She admitted that Marco was a “jumper”, but similar to Pasman’s 

testimony, Mari stated that Marco jumped “in the playful way” to “give you a hug”.  
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R.925, R.932 (Mari Depo. at 12:3-8; 39:1).  Mari made it clear that Marco was not 

aggressive: “No, he wasn’t an aggressive dog.”  R.927 (Mari Depo. at 20:24).  Mari had 

never even heard Marco growl at anyone, nor could she envision what his growl would 

sound like, because Marco “just wasn’t that kind of dog.”  R.929 (Mari Depo. at 26:10-

13).  Marco never bit anyone when Mari owned him.  R.928 (Mari Depo. at 25:16-18).  

Mari took offense to the fact that Plaintiffs’ counsel insinuated that Marco was 

dangerous.  “I mean, the dog was not a dangerous dog so that’s—I kind—that kind of 

offends me when you guys say dangerous because he wasn’t a dangerous dog.”  R.932 

(Mari Depo. at 39:5-6).  (If a trial were necessary, issues such as whether Marco was 

provoked by K.R.B., or whether K.R.B. previously teased Marco, would likely be 

disputed facts.)   

Pasman’s thirteen-year-old grandson, Joshuah Eagleman, was also deposed.  

When Eagleman was asked whether Marco barked at people who walked by, he 

responded, “not really.”  When Plaintiffs’ counsel tried to get Eagleman to concede that 

Marco barked “a little bit,” Eagleman answered, “not really.”  R.909 (Eagleman Depo. at 

9:13-20).  When Marco did “sometimes” bark, it was not a loud bark.  R.908 (Eagleman 

Depo. at 8:15-19).  Similar to Mari Pasman’s testimony, Eagleman testified that Marco 

never growled at anyone.  R.909, R.911 (Eagleman Depo. at 9:10-12; 17:3-4).  Eagleman 

testified that the neighbors never complained to him about Marco “being too loud or 

anything like that.”  R.913 (Eagleman Depo. at 28:10-14).   

Plaintiffs’ Knowledge of Marco 

Plaintiffs lived four units away from Pasman in East Winds the entire time 

Pasman owned Marco.  R.132 (Burgi Depo. 34:17-20).  Not only had the Plaintiffs never 
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complained to East Winds about Marco, Plaintiffs did not even know Marco existed, let 

alone whether Marco had any vicarious tendencies.  Teresa Burgi testified: 

Q. (by Defense Counsel Arndt) Prior to the date of the incident, were you 

aware that Mr. Pasman had a dog? 

A. (by Teresa Burgi) No. 

Q. You had never seen a dog on Mr. Pasman’s property? 

A. No. 

. . .  

Q.  But prior to the incident with K.R.B., there were a number of dogs that 

would have lived in the trailer court? 

 

A.  Yeah, but they had to be on leashes or in the house because there was no 

dogs running around. So . . . 

 

Q.  Sure.  I understand.  And Mr. Pasman’s dog wasn’t running around, was 

it? 

A.  I didn’t even know he had one. So . . .  

. . .  

Q.  And prior to the incident, you obviously didn’t know that Mr. Pasman’s 

dog was vicious or had any tendency to bite anyone because you didn’t 

even know he had a dog. 

A. Yep.  Right.  Yes. 

R.131, R.134, R.136 (Burgi Depo. 30:11-15; 47:2-9; 54:3-7).  Burgi also testified that 

despite walking within 10 feet of Pasman’s house to check her mail, she did not ever 

notice the “Beware of Dog” signs posted on Pasman’s mobile home.  R.131 (Burgi Depo. 

at 31:17-32:4).   

East Winds’ Knowledge of Marco 

Like Teresa Burgi, prior to the incident, East Winds’ owner, John Blackburn, did 

not know Pasman had a dog.  R.237 (Blackburn Depo. at 16:17-19).  East Winds’ 
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property manager, Ron Galvin, learned that Pasman had a dog a few months before the 

incident when he happened to see Marco chained out front of Pasman’s mobile home.  

R.224 (Galvin Depo. at 23:3-13).  At that time, Galvin stopped and talked to Pasman 

about Marco.  R.224 (Galvin Depo. at 23:3-13).  When he approached, Marco did not 

bark and did not display any dangerous propensities.  R.224 (Galvin Depo. at 23:3-13); 

R.153-155.  Pasman never indicated or advised East Winds that Marco was dangerous. 

R.224 (Galvin Depo. at 23:3-13; 25:9-20).   

 Prior to the incident with K.R.B., East Winds had never received any notice or 

complaint from any tenant complaining about Marco.  R.224 (Galvin Depo. at 23:3-13; 

25:9-20); R.153.     

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This Court reviews a grant of summary judgment de novo.  Heitmann v. Am. Fam. 

Mut. Ins. Co., 2016 S.D. 51, ¶ 8, 883 N.W.2d 506, 508.  When reviewing a grant of 

summary judgment, the Court decides “‘whether genuine issues of material fact exist and 

whether the law was correctly applied.’”  Id. (quoting Ass Kickin Ranch LLC v. N. Star 

Mut. Ins. Co., 2012 SD. 73, ¶ 6, 822 N.W.2d 724, 726).  If no material facts are in 

dispute, the “‘review is limited to determining whether the trial court correctly applied 

the law.’”  Id.  This Court “will affirm a circuit court’s decision so long as there is a legal 

basis to support its decision.”  Id.  “[S]ummary judgment is a preferred method for 

disposing of any legally inadequate claim.”  Farm Credit Servs. of Am. v. Dougan, 2005 

S.D. 94, ¶ 7, 704 N.W.2d 24, 27.   

Negligence is the breech of a duty owed to another, the proximate cause of 

which results in an injury.  Consequently, before a defendant can be held 

liable for negligence, the defendant must have breached a duty of care owed 
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to the plaintiff.  Whether a duty exists is a question of law; whether a 

defendant’s conduct constitutes a breach of a duty is a question of fact. 

 

Ridley v. Sioux Empire Pit Bull Rescue, Inc., 2019 S.D. 48, ¶ 13, 932 N.W.2d 576, 580, 

(internal citations omitted).   

“Summary judgment is proper in negligence cases if no duty exists as a matter of 

law.”  Pierce v. City of Belle Fourche, 2001 S.D. 41, ¶ 8, 624 N.W.2d 353, 355 (citing 

Peterson v. Spink Elec. Corp. Inc., 1998 S.D. 60, ¶¶ 1-2, 578 N.W.2d 589, 591). 

Pursuant to SDCL § 15-6-56(e), the nonmoving party in a summary judgment 

proceeding “must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.”  

Roden v. Gen. Cas. Co., 2003 S.D. 130, ¶ 31, 671 N.W.2d 622, 629 (quoting SDCL § 15-

6-56(e)).  A nonmoving party may not rest on mere conclusory statements.  Id.  Instead, 

the nonmoving party must submit admissible evidence to create a genuine issue of fact.  

Luther v. City of Winner, 2004 S.D. 1, ¶ 11, 674 N.W.2d 339, 344-45. “[T]hose resisting 

summary judgment [are required to] show that they will be able to place sufficient 

evidence in the record at trial to support findings on all the elements on which they have 

the burden of proof.”  Chem–Age Industries, Inc. v. Glover, 2002 S.D. 122, ¶ 18, 652 

N.W.2d 756, 765.   

ARGUMENT 

I. ISSUES WAIVED ON APPEAL 

Plaintiffs appear to have waived two of their three causes of action by not 

addressing those causes of action in Appellants’ Brief.  Count two of Plaintiffs’ 

Complaint alleges that East Winds was liable under a theory of “Negligence per se,” for 

allegedly violating SDCL § 40-34-14.  R.5.  SDCL § 40-34-14 provides a definition of a 

vicious dog, but does not create a private cause of action.   The preceding statute, SDCL 
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§ 40-34-13, provides authority for declaration of a public nuisance for a person who owns 

or keeps a dog.  It is undisputed that East Winds did not own or keep Marco.  These 

statutes are inapplicable to Plaintiffs’ claims against East Winds, which is presumably 

why Plaintiffs have abandoned their negligence per se claim.      

Count three of Plaintiffs’ Complaint is a cause of action for “breach of contract”.  

That cause of action alleges that East Winds breached its lease agreement with the 

Plaintiffs by allowing Pasman to have a dog.  R.6.  No such provision exists in any lease 

agreement between the Plaintiffs (or Plaintiffs’ sublessor) and East Winds.   

Neither Appellants’ Brief nor Docketing Statement (R. 998) make arguments for 

negligence per se or breach of contract.  Plaintiffs have abandoned those causes of action.   

II. PLAINTIFFS’ NEGLIGENCE CLAIM   

 

A. East Winds Did Not Owe Plaintiffs a Legal Duty Because the Incident 

Took Place on Pasman’s Leased Property 

The Circuit Court properly determined that East Winds, as a landlord, did not owe 

a legal duty to the Plaintiffs to protect K.R.B. from the negligence of a third-party 

(Pasman) for harm that K.R.B. incurred while K.R.B. was on Pasman’s leased property.     

In order for a defendant to be liable to a plaintiff for negligence, the plaintiff must 

establish that the defendant owed plaintiff a legal duty. 

Negligence is the breach of a duty owed to another, the proximate cause of 

which results in an injury. Consequently, before a defendant can be held 

liable for negligence, the defendant must have breached a duty of care owed 

to the plaintiff. Whether a duty exists is a question of law; whether a 

defendant’s conduct constitutes a breach of a duty is a question of fact. 

Ridley v. Sioux Empire Pit Bull Rescue, Inc., 2019 S.D. 48, ¶ 13, 932 N.W.2d 576, 580.  

The existence of a duty owed by a defendant to a plaintiff is elemental to a negligence 

action and therefore “[b]efore a defendant can be held liable for negligence, the defendant 
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must have breached a duty of care owed to the plaintiff.”  Locke v. Gellhaus, 2010 S.D. 

11, ¶ 11, 778 N.W.2d 594, 597; see also Janis v. Nash Finch Co., 2010 S.D. 27, ¶ 8, 780 

N.W.2d 497, 500. “‘[T]he existence of a duty is a question of law to be determined by the 

court.’” Janis, 2010 S.D. 27, ¶ 8, 780 N.W.2d at 500 (quoting Small v. McKennan Hosp., 

403 N.W.2d 410, 413 (S.D. 1987)). 

“Generally, the law imposes no duty to prevent the misconduct of a third person.”  

State Auto Ins. Companies v. B.N.C., 2005 S.D. 89, ¶ 22, 702 N.W.2d 379, 387.  This 

general rule applies to the landlord/tenant relationship. “We hold that no special 

relationship exists between a landlord and a tenant.”  Walther v. KPKA Meadowlands 

Ltd. P’ship, 1998 S.D. 78, ¶ 42, 581 N.W.2d 527, 535; Smith v. Lagow Const. & 

Develop. Co., 2002 S.D. 37, ¶ 13, 642 N.W.2d 187, 190-91.  “A landlord, having parted 

with full possession of the premises to the tenant is not liable for injury to third persons 

caused by the tenant’s negligence.”  Clauson v. Kempffer, 477 N.W.2d 257, 259 (S.D. 

1991); see also Hendrix v. Schulte, 2007 S.D. 73, ¶ 9, 736 N.W.2d 845, 848.    

“The law of premises liability is based on possession and control.”   Clauson, 477 

N.W.2d at 259 (citing W. Keeton, D. Dobbs, R. Keeton, D. Owen, Prosser and Keeton on 

the Law of Torts § 57, at 386).  Generally, “a lessor of land is not subject to liability to 

his lessee or others upon the land with the consent of the lessee … for physical harm 

caused by any dangerous condition which comes into existence after the lessee has taken 

possession.”  Id. (citing RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 35” (1955)).  The rationale 

for this policy is that: 

When land is leased to a tenant, the law of property regards the lease as 

equivalent to a sale of the premises for the term. The lessee acquires an 

estate in land, and becomes for the time being both owner and occupier, 
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subject to all of the responsibilities of one in possession, to those who enter 

upon the land and those outside of its boundaries. 

Clauson, 477 N.W.2d at 259 n.2 (quoting Prosser & Keeton, supra § 63, at 434); see 

Burgess v. Tackas, 708 ”.E.2d 285, 297-98 (Ct. Ap. Ohio 1998) (“It is well established 

that a lease transfers both possession and control of the leased premises to the tenant.”). 

Although the “landlord-tenant arrangement creates no special relationship,” 

“landlords have a duty to maintain the safe physical condition of the common areas 

within their exclusive control[.]” Smith, 2002 S.D. 37, ¶ 13 (citing Walther, 1998 S.D. 78, 

¶ 42) (emphasis added); see also, Jensen v. Mason, 592 N.W.2d 33, 39 (Iowa 1999) 

(holding that in order for landlord to be liable for injuries caused by tenant’s dog, the 

injury must have occurred in a common area).  

There is no dispute of fact that K.R.B. was bitten by Marco on Pasman’s leased 

lot.  This incident did not occur within a common area.  R.2 (Complaint ¶ 9); R.136 

(Burgi Depo. at 53:11-18).  As the Circuit Court stated via its ruling (R.1073), this fact is 

fatal to Plaintiffs’ claim against East Winds.  East Winds did not have legal duty to 

protect K.R.B. from injuries that K.R.B. incurred on a separate tenant’s (Pasman’s) 

leased lot.  As a matter of law, East Winds’ only potential liability to the Plaintiffs from 

this dog bite would arise if the incident occurred on a common area in which East Winds 

maintained exclusive possession and control.  Smith, 2002 S.D. 37, ¶ 13.   

B. East Winds Lacked Knowledge of Marco’s Dangerous Propensities    

Even if K.R.B. would have been bitten in a common area controlled by East 

Winds, in order to be liable to the Plaintiffs, as a landlord, Plaintiffs would need to 

present some evidence that East Winds had prior knowledge that Marco was dangerous.  

No such evidence exists.  



13 

 

1. Standards of Care in Dog Bite Cases  

In Ridley v. Sioux Empire Pit Bull Rescue, Inc., 2019 S.D. 48, 932 N.W.2d 576, 

this Court made it clear that the owner of the dog must have knowledge of the dog’s 

dangerous propensities, or that the dog bite was otherwise foreseeable, before a legal duty 

is created between the dog owner and the injured party.   

Under South Dakota law, owners of domesticated animals may be held 

liable for harm caused by their pet.  In such a case against a dog owner, the 

plaintiff must establish that as an ordinary, prudent person, the owner 

should have foreseen the event that caused the injury and taken steps to 

prevent the injury. Such liability may arise depending upon the kind and 

character of the particular animal concerned, the circumstances in which it 

is placed, and the purposes for which it is employed or kept.  If a plaintiff 

proves that the dog owner knew or had reason to know of the dog’s 

dangerous propensity the plaintiff will be deemed to have established the 

foreseeability element of negligence.  

 

Ridley v. Sioux Empire Pit Bull Rescue, Inc., 2019 S.D. 48, ¶14, 932 N.W.2d 576, 580 

(internal citations omitted).  In Ridley, the Circuit Court ruled that the dog owner (or 

prospective dog owner of a foster dog) was entitled to summary judgment for lack of 

legal duty owed to the plaintiff based upon facts that made the dog bite not reasonably 

foreseeable.  This Court affirmed that summary judgment award to the possessor (foster 

care owner) of the dog.     

East Winds’ argument is even stronger than the defendant in Ridley.  East Winds 

was neither the owner nor the possessor of the dog that bit K.R.B.  A strong argument can 

be made that even Pasman did not possess the requisite knowledge of Marco’s dangerous 

propensities to invoke liability to the Plaintiffs.  However, East Winds—as the only party 

the Plaintiffs have sued—is one step removed from any knowledge that Pasman may 

have had regarding Marco’s prior behavior.  East Winds’ representatives were deposed 

by Plaintiffs’ counsel and specifically denied knowledge that Pasman’s dog was 
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dangerous.  As a matter of law, without East Winds having actual knowledge that 

Pasman’s dog was dangerous, East Winds owed no legal duty to protect K.R.B. from 

Pasman’s dog.          

Plaintiffs cite Rowland v. Log Cabin, Inc., 2003 S.D. 20, 658 N.W.2d 76 in 

support of their argument that they have put forth enough evidence to survive summary 

judgment.  Rowland is distinguishable.  In Rowland, the plaintiff was a business invitee 

and the defendant was a bar owner—not a landlord.  The Supreme Court held that the 

defendant/bar owner’s decision to allow a large dog to roam freely throughout the bar, 

with potentially drunk patrons, created a question of fact regarding the foreseeability of a 

patron eventually being bit.  In contrast, K.R.B. was a trespasser on the Pasman’s leased 

lot.  East Winds, as the landlord, had no way of knowing that K.R.B. was going to be on 

Pasman’s lot, let alone knowledge that Pasman’s dog created some kind of risk to K.R.B.  

Rowland does not create a legal duty owed by East Winds to the Plaintiffs, as the facts of 

these two cases are materially distinct.   

 Plaintiffs also cite Gehrts v. Batteen, 2001 S.D. 10, 620 N.W.2d 775.  Gehrts 

involved the standard applicable to a dog owner, not a landlord of a third-party tenant 

who owned a dog.  Again, East Winds is once removed from any knowledge the dog 

owner (Pasman) may have had.   

Gehrts stated, “[h]owever, in certain instances a cause of action for negligence 

can survive without the owner’s actual knowledge of an animal’s dangerous 

propensities.  When the owner does not know of the animal’s dangerous propensities, the 

ordinary negligence standard of foreseeability will still be applied.”  Id. at ¶ 9, 620 

N.W.2d 775, 778, (emphasis added).  The Gehrts Court went on to affirm Summary 
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Judgement in favor of the dog owner based upon a lack of facts indicating the dog owner 

should have known the dog bite incident was going to occur, which created a lack of 

foreseeability, and therefore a lack of a legal duty owed by the dog owner to the bitten 

plaintiff.  Similarly, East Winds’ lack of knowledge that Marco would present a danger to 

K.R.B. eliminates any legal duty that East Winds would owe to the Plaintiffs.      

A strong majority of jurisdictions have held that a landlord is not liable for 

injuries resulting from the dog bite in a common area absent actual knowledge of the 

animal’s dangerous propensities.  See, e.g., Twogood v. Wentz, 634 N.W.2d 514 (N.D. 

2001); Strunk v. Zoltanski, 468 N.E.2d 13 (N.Y. Ct. App. 1984); Giaculli v. Bright, 584 

So.2d 187 (Fla. App. 1991); Compagno v. Monson, 580 So.2d 962 (La. Ct. App. 1991); 

Goddard by Goddard v. Weaver, 558 N.E.2d 853 (Ind. App. 1990); Gibbons v. Chavez, 

160 Ariz. 73, 770 P.2d 377 (Ariz. App. 1988); Szkodzinski v. Griffin, 431 N.W.2d 51 

(Mich. App. 1988); Lucas v. Kriska, 522 N.E.2d 736 (Ill. Ct. App. 1988); Palermo v. 

Nails,483 A.2d 871 (Pa. 1984); Uccello v. Laudenslayer, 44 Cal.App.3d 504, 118 

Cal.Rptr. 741 (1975); Batra v. Clark, 110 S.W.3d 126, 129 (Tex. Ct. App. 2003) 

(cumulative citation to jurisdictions requiring actual knowledge to impose liability on a 

landlord).   Further, as the Nebraska Supreme Court has recognized, a landlord “is under 

no duty to inspect the premises for the purpose of discovering the existence of a tenant’s 

dangerous animal; only when the landlord has actual knowledge of the animal, coupled 

with the right to have it removed from the premises, does a duty of care arise.”  Plowman 

v. Pratt, 684 N.W.2d 28, 31 (Neb. 2004).  
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2. Lack of Evidence of East Winds’ Knowledge of Marco’s Dangerousness 

 

Plaintiffs present no evidence that East Winds had actual knowledge of Marco’s 

dangerous propensities.  Plaintiffs’ best argument is a subjective argument that East 

Winds should have known that Marco presented a danger to K.R.B.  Not only is that the 

incorrect standard, it also lacks supporting evidence.      

(a) Witnesses Testimony 

During their depositions, East Winds’ owner, John Blackburn, and property 

manager, Ron Galvin, both denied any reports from anyone that Marco was present, or 

presented a danger.  Pasman (Marco’s owner), Mari Pasman (Marco’s original owner), 

and Eagleman (Pasman’s grandson) each answered specific questions about Marco’s 

character traits and each specifically denied that Marco was dangerous.   

Plaintiffs argue that the Affidavit of Pasman’s neighbor, Janice Anderson, creates 

an issue of material fact that should have prevented Summary Judgment.  The Circuit 

Court addressed this argument and concluded that Anderson’s Affidavit is speculative. 

(R.1075.)  Although Anderson’s Affidavit concludes that she believes East Winds should 

have known that Marco was dangerous, it lacks any facts that would support such a 

subjective belief.  It is undisputed that Anderson did not ever complain or report Marco’s 

behavior to East Winds.   

It is also undisputed that K.R.B.’s own mother (Plaintiff Teresa Burgi), did not 

even realize that Pasman had a dog, let alone make any prior complaints to East Winds 

that Marco was dangerous.    
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(b) Use of this Dog Bite Incident to Establish Knowledge of 

Dangerousness 

 

Plaintiffs argue that this incident—Marco’s biting of K.R.B. on Pasman’s lot—is 

sufficient evidence of Marco’s dangerousness.  This Court has “expressly rejected” 

attempts by plaintiffs to use the attack at issue as the evidence necessary to establish the 

requisite notice of a dog’s dangerous propensities.  Gehrts, 2001 S.D. 10, ¶ 10 (citing 

Tipton v. Town of Tabor, 1997 S.D. 96, ¶ 23, 567 N.W.2d 351, 361).  “While other 

jurisdictions may allow juries to determine after the fact whether the animal had 

dangerous propensities, such reasoning has been expressly rejected in South Dakota.”  Id. 

(c) Use of Dog Breed as Evidence of Dangerousness 

Plaintiffs also repeatedly refer to Marco as a “big-bodied,” “dangerous” “Pitbull”.  

This Court has also expressly rejected arguments that a dog’s breed is evidence of its 

dangerous propensities. “South Dakota does not support such breed-specific standard of 

care.  We instead recognize that ‘dogs are presumed tame and docile and the burden is on 

a plaintiff to show otherwise.’”  Ridley, 2019 S.D. 48, ¶ 18 (quoting Tipton, 1997 S.D. 

96, ¶ 24).   

(d) Beware of Dog Signs 

Plaintiffs also argue that the “Beware of Dog” signs on Pasman’s trailer impute 

knowledge of a dangerous dog.  The Circuit Court correctly rejected this argument.  

“…the presence of a beware of dog sign standing alone is insufficient to impute notice of 

a dog’s viciousness.  The Court believes there’s good public policy for that rule.”  

R.1079; see also Dougherty v. Hibbits, N14C-05-105 PRW, 2015 WL 5168157, at *5-6 

(Del. Sup. Ct. Aug 31, 2015) (Placement of “beware of dog” signs is insufficient to 

demonstrate that a landlord knows of a dogs dangerous propensities); Smedley v. 
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Ellinwood, 21 A.D.3d 676, 677 (N.Y. App. Div. 2011) (“the presence of a ‘Beware of 

Dog’ sign, standing alone, is insufficient to impute notice of a dog’s viciousness” on a 

landlord or even that the dog is vicious or dangerous).  As Mari Pasman testified, she 

bought the signs for her father because Marco was big and she wanted a warning for 

others that Marco was on the premises.  R.927 (Mari Depo. at 20:22-21:7).   

(e) Miscellaneous Arguments of Dangerousness 

Plaintiffs refer to various other miscellaneous facts in an attempt to establish East 

Winds’ knowledge that Marco was dangerous.  Those facts include that Marco was 

secured on a “thick chain”, “he jumped on people”, “he barked”, and his vet records 

indicate Marco was “head strong”.  There is little evidence, and Plaintiffs make no effort 

to demonstrate, that East Winds was aware of any of these facts.  Even if East Winds had 

been aware of these facts, and even when construed liberally in Plaintiffs’ favor, those 

facts do not establish the requisite knowledge to conclude that East Winds knew that 

Marco was a dangerous dog, and/or that Marco presented a danger to K.R.B.      

(f) East Winds did not have an Independent Duty to Investigate 

Marco 

 

Plaintiffs also argue that East Winds failed in their duty to protect K.R.B. because 

they failed to investigate Pasman’s premises to determine if Marco was dangerous.  As a 

starting point, it is illogical to impose a duty upon a landlord to investigate a problem in 

which they have no knowledge.  East Winds barely had knowledge that Marco existed, 

let alone reports or observations that Marco was dangerous.  Again, Theresa Burgi, after 

living a few units away from Pasman for the four years Marco lived with Pasman, did not 

even know Marco existed, let alone that he posed a danger.  
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Further, other jurisdictions have specifically concluded that a landlord does not 

have an independent duty to investigate a tenant’s pet.  “A landlord has no duty to inspect 

the premises to discover the existence of a tenant’s dangerous animal.”  Feister v. 

Bosack, 497 N.W.2d 522, 526 (Mich. Ct. App. 1993); Uccello, 44 Cal.App.3d at 514 (“a 

landlord is under no duty to inspect the premises for the purpose of discovering the 

existence of a tenant’s dangerous animal”); Bessent v. Matthews, 543 So.2d 438, 439-40 

(Fla. Ct. App. 1989) (holding that landlord had no duty to make periodic inspections of 

leased property to determine if dog was dangerous).   

Plaintiffs also ignore the fact that Ron Galvin did inquire about Marco “a couple 

of months before the incident.”  R.224 (Galvin Depo. at 23:3-6).  Galvin testified that he 

stopped and talked to Pasman about Marco.  During that interaction, Marco did not bark 

or display any dangerous propensities, nor did Pasman indicate that Marco was 

dangerous.     

(g) Lack of Evidence of East Wind’s Knowledge that Marco was 

Dangerous Supports the Circuit Court’s Order of Summary 

Judgment    

 

The Circuit Court gave Plaintiffs two separate discovery extensions in an effort to 

develop facts to indicate East Winds had knowledge of Marco’s dangerous propensities.  

Plaintiffs were unable to discover such facts, and thus, were unable to meet their burden. 

Without such evidence, East Winds did not owe Plaintiffs a legal duty to protect K.R.B. 

from Marco.  

Many other jurisdictions have upheld summary judgment in favor of landlords for 

the same reason—a lack of evidence indicating the landlord had actual knowledge of the 

dog’s dangerous propensities.  See e.g., Twogood v. Wentz, 634 N.W.2d at 520 (affirming 
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summary judgment due to lack of control; landlord’s denial of knowledge of the dog’s 

dangerous propensities; and plaintiff’s failure to present evidence otherwise); Compagno, 

580 So.2d at 966 (affirming summary judgment in favor of landlord where “the record is 

devoid of any evidence the landlords had actual knowledge of the dog’s vicious 

propensity.”); Gibbons, 770 P.2d at 380 (affirming summary judgment in favor of 

landlord because plaintiff failed to present evidence of the landlord’s knowledge of a dog 

with dangerous propensities); Batra, 110 S.W.3d at 129 (reversing trial court’s denial of 

landlord’s motion for directed verdict, holding that plaintiff failed to present evidence 

that landlord had actual knowledge of dog’s vicious tendency); Georgianna v. Gizzy, 483 

N.Y.S.2d 892, 894 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Onondaga Cnty. 1984) (granting summary judgment in 

favor of landlord, where landlord had no knowledge of dog’s dangerous tendencies); 

Plowman, 684 N.W.2d at 31-32 (granting summary judgment where landlord knew dog 

barked at repairman, as that was insufficient to show actual knowledge of dangerous 

propensity); see also Danny R. Veilleux, Annotation, Landlord's Liability to Third 

Person for Injury Resulting From Attack on Leased Premises by Dangerous or Vicious 

Animal Kept by Tenant, 87 A.L.R.4th 1004 § 2a (1991). 

CONCLUSION 

The fact that K.R.B. was bitten by Marco is unfortunate.  However, the facts 

indicate this incident was unexpected and unpredictable—to everyone.   

Plaintiffs did not ever make a claim against Pasman, Marco’s owner.  Even if 

Plaintiffs had made such a claim, Pasman himself would have a strong defense based 

upon the lack of any evidence that Marco previously displayed dangerous behavior.  

Plaintiffs’ Complaint against East Winds, as Plaintiffs’ landlord, is even more legally 
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tenuous.  The incident did not take place on a common area that East Winds controlled.  

There is also no evidence to indicate East Winds had knowledge that Marco was a 

dangerous dog.        

The Circuit Court properly awarded Summary Judgment to East Winds, as 

Plaintiffs failed to put forth evidence to support a legal duty owed by East Winds to the 

Plaintiffs.  East Winds respectfully requests that the Circuit Court’s ruling granting 

Summary Judgment in favor of East Winds be affirmed.    

Dated at Sioux Falls, South Dakota, this 28th day of July, 2021. 

 

EVANS HAIGH & HINTON LLP 

 

  /s/  Mark J. Arndt     

Mark J. Arndt 

Ryan W.W. Redd 

101 North Main Avenue, Suite 213 

P.O. Box 2790 

Sioux Falls, SD  57101-2790 

Telephone: (605) 275-9599 

Facsimile: (605) 275-9602 

marndt@ehhlawyers.com 

rredd@ehhlawyers.com  

  Attorneys for Appellee  
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 Appellant’s Jurisdictional Statement is outlined in the Appellant’s Brief.  

STATEMENT OF ISSUES 

 Appellant’s Statement of the Issues is outlined in the Appellant’s Brief.  

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

 Appellant’s Statement of the Facts is outlined in the Appellant’s Brief. 

REPLY ARGUMENT 

This case is not a case that can be decided on Summary Judgment. Appellee’s 

brief is riddled with factual conclusions that are contradicted by the deposition testimony 

of numerous witnesses.  For example, Appellee’s entire argument is based on the 

assumed fact that neither Blackburn nor his agent, Galvin, had actual knowledge that the 

Pitbull was dangerous.  As will be set forth from an analysis of the facts below, both 

Blackburn and his agent Galvin knew that the Pitbull was dangerous, and therefore East 

Winds Court, Inc. knew about the Pitbull and that it was dangerous. Additionally, 

whether or not Blackburn and/or Galvin (and therefore East Winds Court, Inc.) knew 

about the dangerous Pitbull is a question of fact for the jury to decide.  (See Rowland v. 

Log Cabin, Inc., 658 N.W.2d 76 (2003 SD 20)). 

ISSUE I 

THERE ARE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL 

FACT AS TO WHETHER EAST WINDS COURT, INC. 

HAD ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE OF THE PITBULL’S 

DANGEROUS PROPENSITIES. 

    



 

1. THERE IS A MATERIAL QUESTION OF FACT AS TO WHETHER OR NOT 

BLACKBURN KNEW ABOUT THE DANGEROUS PITBULL. 

 

First, Appellee’s brief and argument assume as a fact that Blackburn did not know 

about the dangerous Pitbull.  Appellee argues factual conclusions that Blackburn did not 

know about the dangerous Pitbull.  That fact has not been established.  It is an assumed 

fact. (Appellee’s Brief at 16). 

Blackburn, the owner of East Winds Court, indicated in his deposition that he had 

not ever seen the two large “Beware of Dog” signs until his deposition.  (RA 581, 

Blackburn deposition page 18 lines 23-25 page 19 lines 1-2)(RA 582). In Plaintiff’s 

Second Set of Admissions Plaintiff requested Defendant admit or deny the following: 

 10.  Admit or deny that the “Beware of Dog” signs are visible from  

         Meadow View Road. 

        RESPONSE:  East Winds objects to the form of the Request as it is                      

vague and ambiguous.  The Request does not identify the individual to 

whom the sign may be visible.  Without waiving this objection, East 

Winds admits that the sign may be visible to some people from 

Meadow View Road (RA 886.)  The visibility of the sign may depend 

upon the quality of the person’s eyesight and/or the person’s vantage 

point from the Road, as well as the time of day the person is 

attempting to view the sign.(RA 886). 

(Emphasis added). 

Thus, East Winds Court has put Blackburn and Galvin’s eyesight at issue.  Surely, that is 

a factual issue for a jury to decide.   

Bear in mind that Blackburn’s testimony is in sharp contrast with other testimony 

in the record.  For instance, young Josh Eagleman testified: 

Q. All right.  Do you think that all of the neighbors knew that your 

grandpa had Marco? 

A. Yeah. 

Q. How would they have known that Josh? 

A. Because he is outside all of the time. 



 

 

(Eagleman Deposition page 26, lines 9-13) (RA 913) Eagleman (who lived with his 

grandpa for a time) also testified that everyone knew about the Pitbull : 

 

Q. Do you know, was your grandpa allowed to have Marco at the 

trailer park? 

  A. Yeah, he was allowed to. 

Q. Did they—did your grandpa say “Hey, you guys have to hide 

Marco because he’s not allowed in the trailer park”? 

  A. No. 

Q. In your opinion, did pretty much everybody there know that he had 

Marco? 

  A. Yeah. 

 

If everyone in the whole trailer park knew, then it is reasonable to conclude that 

Blackburn knew.  Blackburn knew and therefore he had actual knowledge of the fact.  

S.D.C.L. §17-1-2.  Blackburn, in the five years Pasman had the Pit Bull, must have seen 

the signs.  (R. Pasman deposition page 60, lines 11-17)(RA 768).   

 It is notable, that after the Burgi mauling, East Winds Court forced multiple 

tenants to remove Pitbulls.  Blackburn testified: 

Q. Since September 3rd of 2017, how many tenants have had their 

dogs removed from the properties?  Have you made tenants 

remove dogs from the properties? 

  A. I’m thinking at least three, maybe four. 

  Q. And what kind of dogs were those, do you recall? 

A. To my knowledge, at least – in each instance it was a pit bull.  I 

can think of three specifically. 

 

(Blackburn Deposition page 24, lines 7-13)(RA 239). 

 

It is clear from the evidence that prior to the Burgi mauling, East Winds Court simply 

looked the other way with plenty of large, aggressive Pitbull dogs.  At the very least, 

genuine issues of material fact exist in this case precluding summary judgment.  This 

case should be reversed and remanded for trial on the merits.   



 

2. EAST WINDS COURT RETAINED CONTROL OVER THE LEASED 

PREMISES. 

 Appellee argues that it did not owe a duty to K.RB. because the attack technically 

occurred on Pasman’s leased trailer pad.  (Appellee’s Brief pages 10-11).  That is not the 

only rule applicable in this case.  As will be explained below, that rule is inapplicable 

herein.  The rule that a landlord having parted with full control over the leased premises 

is not liable to a third person injured on the leased premises does not apply where (as 

here) the landlord reserves some control over the leased premises.  Here, the landlord 

expressly retained control over the types of animals allowed in the trailer park.  In that 

situation, the landlord may be held liable if the landlord had actual or constructive notice 

of the claimed problem.  (See, Boe v. Healy, 84 S.D. 155, 168 N.W.2nd 710 (1969). 

Landlords who insist on control over the leased premises bear responsibility to their 

tenants if the danger is foreseeable.  (See, Smith v. Lagow Construction and Developing 

Co., 642 N.W.2nd 187 (S.D. 2001).  

The lease Blackburn (an experienced, licensed attorney) prepared specifically 

prohibited this type of animal. In other words, here, the landlord testified that the trailer 

court reserved the right of re-entry and reserved the right to control what was allowed on 

the leased premises.  Cf., Clauson v. Kempffer, 477 N.W.2d 257 (S.D. 1991).  Therefore, 

East Winds Court did not part with full possession of the leased premises.  

Pasman’s lease was “month-to-month.”  Specifically, ¶ 14 of Pasman’s lease 

stated (in pertinent part):  

14. This is a month-to-month lease unless otherwise specified in 

writing and requires TENANT to give LANDLORD in writing at 

least thirty (30) days’ notice before vacating the premises.  (RA 

945) 



 

 

No one forced East Winds Court to continue to lease to Pasman.  They chose to do so 

knowing full well that he had a large, aggressive dog with two “Beware of Dog” signs 

publicly posted on the outside of his trailer.  In the four-to-five-year time span that 

Pasman had the Pitbull, East Winds Court renewed his month-to-month lease well over 

40 separate times.  Pasman also operated a sex shop out of his trailer in violation of ¶ 25 

of his lease with East Winds Court.  (Motion Hearing Transcript of 05/07/2020 on page 

13 lines 7 – 11) (RA 840). Specifically, ¶25 of his lease prohibited.  

25. Operation of any business from the leased premises is prohibited 

without prior, written permission of the LANDLORD. (RA 946) 

 

In other words, yes, East Winds Court had a lease. And yes, East Winds Court 

ignored its’ own leases.  In the present case, not only did East Winds Court have the 

express right to re-enter and take over possession of the leased premises, but it also 

retained control over the dogs and other animals allowed on the leased premises.  

Specifically, ¶13 of his lease stated: 

13.  PETS: TENANT assumes all responsibilities for pets. Dogs are 

only allowed on TENANT'S property. Dogs are not allowed to run 

free in East Winds Court. Barking of dogs, day or night is not 

allowed. Only harmless, non-vicious, safe, pets such domestic 

dogs, housecats and indoor birds are allowed within East Winds 

Court, Inc. without the prior written permission of the 

LANDLORD. TENANTS are prohibited from keeping any other 

type or description of pet or animal or reptile. If a TENANT has a 

noisy pet such as a barking dog, the TENANT will have to 

purchase at the TENANTS own expense a muzzle and keep it on 

his /her dog at all times to prevent barking. (RA 945) 

 

It is a well-established principle that when a landlord reserves control over a 

portion of the premises, the failure to exercise that control over the premises creates tort 

liability.  Boe v. Healy, 84 S.D. 155, 159-160, 168 N.W.2d 710, 712-13 (1969).  And it is 



 

clear that before K.R.B. was mauled, East Winds Court did not enforce its own lease.   

East Winds ignored the express lease provisions allowing only harmless, non-vicious 

dogs as pets.  As Marie Pasman testified, there were a lot of other large, aggressive dogs 

out at the trailer park: 

A. Okay.  Well, I guess that --the dog part makes sense because there is a 

lot of other big dogs that are jumping at the fence when you go down 

the street and – you know, in his neighborhood so I could see that. 

  

(M.Pasman Deposition page 17, lines 16-19)(RA 926).  Furthermore, Mari Pasman 

made it very clear that : 

A. Like I said, as you go up and down the road, I mean, there were other 

big dogs who, like any other dogs, were lunging at the fence or 

whatever, you know, the case may be or running up and down the 

yard.   

 

(M.Pasman Deposition page 33, lines 19-22) (RA 930). 

The fact that East Winds Court retained control of the leased premises is proven 

by the fact that after the Burgi mauling, East Winds Court forced a number of tenants to 

get rid of their Pitbull dogs.  (Blackburn Deposition page 24, lines 7-13) (RA 616).  The 

South Dakota rules of evidence expressly permit this evidence to prove “control, or the 

feasibility of precautionary measures”.  S.D.C.L.§19-19-407.  At the very least, genuine 

issues of material fact exist as to whether or not East Winds Court actually enforced its’ 

own lease. (See also, Jay Zitter, Annotation, Effect as Between Landlord and Tenant, of 

Lease Clause Restricting Keeping of Pets, 114 A.L.R.5th 443 §18 (2003). 

 A reasonable juror could infer from these facts that East Winds trailer court and 

Blackburn knew about the dog and that it was dangerous. Furthermore, a reasonable juror 

could find that East Winds Court retained control over the leased premises, specifically 



 

over the types of dogs allowed in the trailer park and that it chose to look the other way.  

In other words, a reasonable juror, upon examining this evidence, might reach very 

different factual conclusions than the trial court.  At the very least, genuine issues of 

material fact exist, making summary judgment inappropriate in this case.  The case 

should be tried on the merits.  Dahl v. Sittner, 429 N.W.2d 458 (S.D. 1988). 

ISSUE II 

THERE ARE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT 

AS EAST WINDS COURT, INC.’S PROPERTY 

MANAGER HAD KNOWLEDGE 

OF THE PITBULL’S DANGEROUS PROPENSITIES. 

 

 Appellee’s brief also requires the Court to accept as fact their self-serving 

statement that Galvin did not know about the dangerous Pitbull.  (Appellee’s Brief at 16).  

Again, this factual assertion is contradicted by Galvin’s own testimony as well as various 

other witnesses.   

 Pasman testified that he had the Pitbull for four to five years before the K.R.B.’s 

injury (not the couple of months that Galvin testified to).    Galvin testified that he drove 

through the trailer court multiple times a day, every day, back and forth.  Galvin was 

“always out there,” i.e., at the trailer park.  (R. Pasman deposition page 72 line 11)( RA 

771).  That works out to over a thousand times that Galvin drove right past the Pasman’s 

“Beware of the Dog” signs and yet claimed that he never noticed them.  (“No.  Like I 

said, I haven’t seen them, or I don’t – I’m not aware of them.”)  (Galvin Deposition page 

15 lines 6-7)(RA 607).  The beware of the dog signs was quite visible from the private 

road in front of Pasman’s trailer.  (R. Pasman deposition page 74, lines 1-25)(RA 772).  

The Trial Court expressly found: 



 

The Court finds there were beware of dog signs on Mr. Pasman’s property 

that were visible to the general public.  The dog was visible out front chained up 

from time to time and that the property manager would drive through the trailer 

park and had an opportunity to observe those things.  The Court finds that there 

was – well, there was nothing presented that Mr. Galvin or Mr. Blackburn ever 

actually saw a beware of dog sign. (RA 1076) 

 

 A landlord is deemed to have knowledge of a dangerous condition when the 

condition existed for such a period of time as to justify the conclusion that, in the exercise 

of ordinary care, he should have known of its existence within such time as would have 

given him a reasonable opportunity to remedy the condition or where the exercise of 

reasonable care he could have discovered the defective condition and made it safe. 

Knowledge may be implied from the long-continued existence of the defect. Boe v. 

Healy, 168 N.W.2d 710, 713 (S.D. 1969) (citations omitted).   

 A reasonable juror may not believe that Galvin drove by the property every day 

for four or five years and never once noticed the two large commercial “Beware of Dog” 

signs nailed to the front on Pasman’s trailer.   East Winds Court’s defense reminds one of 

the character Sergeant Schultz’s classic line in the television show “Hogan’s Heroes”:  “I 

see nothing!” 

Pasman believed that Galvin knew all about the Pitbull.  The dog was “just as big 

as any German Shepard, husky, big-boned, big muscle, big dog.  (R. Pasman Deposition 

page 10, lines 1-2) (RA 756).  The dog was always jumping on people.  (R. Pasman 

Deposition page 10 line 16) (RA 756).  Ron Pasman testified that everyone in the whole 

neighborhood knew that he had this big, well-muscled dog that jumped on everyone.  (R. 

Pasman Deposition page 29) (RA 760).   Pasman testified: 

 Q. So Ron Galvin knew about the dog? 

 A. Yeah. 

 Q. Yes? 



 

 A. Everybody knew about it, yeah. 

 Q. And Ron Galvin knew you had the beware of the dog signs up? 

 A. Yeah, everybody saw them. 

 

(R. Pasman deposition page 60 lines 11-17). (RA 768).  Eagleman believed that Galvin 

knew about the dog.  Eagleman testified: 

Q. All right.  Do you think that all of the neighbors knew that your 

grandpa had Marco? 

A. Yeah. 

Q. How would they have known that, Josh? 

A. Because he is outside all of the time. 

 

(Eagleman Deposition page 26, lines 9-13). (RA 913).  Eagleman also testified that 

everyone connected with the trailer park knew about the Pitbull: 

 

Q. Do you know, was your grandpa allowed to have Marco at the 

trailer park? 

  A. Yeah, he was allowed to. 

Q. Did they—did your grandpa say “Hey, you guys have to hide 

Marco because he’s not allowed in the trailer park”? 

  A. No. 

Q. In your opinion, did pretty much everybody there know that he had 

Marco? 

  A. Yeah. (Eagleman Deposition page 32, lines 1-10)(RA 914) 

 

Anderson believed that East Winds Court, Blackburn, and Galvin knew about the 

dangerous Pitbull.  In her Affidavit, Anderson stated: 

 

  13. Marco would bark at those who passed by. 

  14, Marco would attack anyone within his reach. 

  15. Marco was one of those dogs that just shouldn’t be there. 

16. I believe that East Winds Court, Inc. was aware of Marco and that 

Marco was dangerous. (RA 878). 

 

   A reasonable landlord, a reasonable property manager for a trailer park, in a 

four-to-five-year time frame, would have noticed the two “Beware of Dog” signs, learned 

of the purposes for keeping the dog (which was for protection), and investigated the dog, 



 

discovered its’ dangerous, headstrong behavior, talked to the neighbors about it and 

would have taken decisive action to remove the Pitbull from the trailer park or ordered 

that the tenant build a fenced-in kennel.   

 Galvin equivocates:  

Q. And in that picture, there are two beware of dog signs posted on his  

 trailer. Have you seen those? 

A. I don’t remember seeing them, but I can’t say for sure. 

 

(Galvin deposition page 13, lines 22-25) (RA 605).  Thus, Galvin’s deposition testimony 

is equivocal.  “I don’t remember seeing them, but I can’t say for sure.”  Therefore, the 

trial court’s factual conclusion that Galvin never saw the signs is disputed by Galvin’s 

own testimony.  Pasman certainly believed that Galvin knew about Pasman’s dog and saw 

the “Beware of Dog” signs. (R. Pasman deposition page 60 lines 15-17)(RA 768).  

Furthermore, Anderson, the next-door neighbor, certainly contradicted Galvin’s 

statements.  Anderson stated under oath that she believed that Galvin knew about the 

Pitbull and that it was dangerous.  Specifically, Anderson, Pasman’s next-door neighbor, 

swore under oath in her Affidavit that the “Beware of Dog” signs had been up the entire 

time Pasman had the dog.  (Anderson Affidavit at ¶ 10)(RA 878).  Anderson starkly 

stated in her Affidavit: “I believe that East Winds Court, Inc. was aware of Marco and 

knew that Marco was dangerous.”  (Anderson Affidavit at ¶16) (RA 878)1.  At the very 

least, genuine issues of material fact exist, making summary judgment inappropriate in 

this case. 

                                                 
1 Appellee attempts to pooh-pooh Anderson’s Affidavit.  (Appellee’s Brief at 16).  First, it takes courage to 

offer an Affidavit against your own landlord.  Second, the use of an Affidavit opposing summary 

judgement is expressly authorized by the South Dakota Rules of Civil Procedure.  (See, S.D.C.L. §15-6-

56(c). 



 

ISSUE III 

THERE ARE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT  

CONCERNING THE LANDLORD’S NEGLIGENCE IN THE COMMON AREA. 

 

Appellee never once in its’ entire brief directly mentioned the basketball hoop on 

common property directly in front of the Pitbull.  Appellee completely and utterly failed 

to respond to this argument in their brief.  The reason Appellee was unable to respond to 

this argument is because it is fatal to Appellee’s case.   

As a rule, the “possessor of land owes an invitee or business visitor the duty of 

exercising reasonable or ordinary care for his safety and is liable for the breach of such 

duty.”  Norris v. Chicago, M., St. P. & P.R. Co., 74 S.D. 271, 273, 51 N.W.2d 792, 793 

(1952).  Landlords have a duty to maintain the safe physical condition of the common 

areas within their control. Walther v. KPKA Meadowlands Ltd. Partnership, 581 N.W.2d 

527, 535 (SD 1998). Appellee admits this.  (Appellee Brief at page 12).  Where a 

landlord reserves control over a portion of the premises, a failure to carefully maintain 

that area creates tort liability.  Boe v. Healy, 84 S.D. 155, 168 N.W. 2d 710 (1969). 

 East Winds Court had authorized a basketball hoop/basketball court on its’ private 

street in the trailer park directly in front of Pasman’s leased concrete slab.  The basketball 

hoop was in the common area in front of Pasman’s trailer.  Galvin admits that it was his 

job to maintain the common area of the property. (Galvin deposition page 10 lines 1-5) 

(RA 602).  East Winds Court response to Plaintiff’s Second Set of Admissions No. 3 is 

telling: 

  3.Admit or deny that Meadow View Road was exclusively under the  

  ownership, maintenance, dominion and control of East Winds Court, Inc.  

  at the time of the occurrence. 

  Response:  Admit.  

 



 

(East Winds Court, Inc., Responses to Plaintiff’s Request for Admissions (Second 

 

Set). (RA 884). 

Joshua Eagleman testified that he and Kaleb played basketball in the common 

area (East Winds private street) right in front of the Pitbull.   

  Q. Because you were playing basketball in the street; is that right? 

  A. Yeah. 

    * * * * * 

Q. Okay.  And if I understand correctly what happened, a ball 

bounced up into the yard –  

  A. Yeah. 

Q.  -- as you guys were playing basketball, and Kaleb went to get the 

basketball.  Is that true? 

  A. Yeah. 

 

(Eagleman Deposition page 18, lines 2-4, and 13-18)( RA 911).  Furthermore, Eagleman 

testified: 

Q. Okay.  And you guys kind of played basketball out in the street; is 

that right? 

  A. Yeah. 

Q. Okay.  And that was kind of routine thing that to have done.  You 

know, the boys kind of stay out there and play basketball on the 

street? 

  A. Oh, yeah. 

Q.  And sometimes the basketball would bounce into the yard , 

wouldn’t it? 

  A. Sometimes. 

(Eagleman Deposition page 11, lines 21-25 and page 12, lines 1-5)(RA 909). 



 

 Furthermore, the basketball court was definitely in the trailer park’s street. 

Plaintiffs issued a Request for Admission as to the specific location of the basketball 

hoop. That Request for Admission as well as East Winds Courts response are as follows: 

11. Admit or Deny that the basketball hoop as depicted in the picture below 

  is located on Meadow View Road. 

 
 RESPONSE: Deny. The basketball hoop in the photograph appears to be  

  located in the grass lot of a trailer court near Meadow View Road. 

 

(East Winds Court, Inc., Responses to Plaintiff’s Request for Admissions (Second  

 

Set)(RA 886). Again, there is and can be no question that the basketball court was on  

 

common property (even if there is a question of fact as to the hoop).  

Here, it is both foreseeable and preventable that having a basketball court on 

common property directly in front of a large, barking Pitbull with two large commercial 

“Beware of Dog” signs would foreseeably cause a ball to bounce onto Pasman’s property 

between the basketball hoop and a dangerous pitbull sitting right there would bite. East 

Winds Court violated its’ duty to maintain the common area.  A child playing basketball 

in a common area and retrieving a ball is entirely foreseeable.  At the very least, a 

genuine issue of material fact exists, making summary judgment inappropriate in this 

case.  (See, Rowland v. Log Cabin, Inc., 658 N.W.2d 20 (S.D. 2003). 



 

ISSUE IV 

THE PITBULL’S ATTACK WAS 

FORESEEABLE BASED UPON THE 

TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES. 

 

Defendant cites Dougherty v. Hibbits as authority for the proposition that the 

“Beware of Dog” signs do not matter.  (Appellee’s Brief at page 17).  First, it should be 

noted that the case is a Delaware trial court opinion.  Therefore, it has very limited 

precedential value.  Second, the facts are totally different than is present here.  In 

Dougherty, the landlord rented a house in Delaware to a tenant.  The landlord actually 

lived in Arizona.  The landlord had never ever seen the dog before.  The landlord was 

never even in the same state as the dog before.  That is a far cry from the facts herein.  

Here, Galvin was an “on-site” property manager.  His job was to manage the property.  It 

was not his job to just look the other way.  Yet, thousands of times over the course of 

four to five years, he did just that. In other words, Burgi believes that the two large 

commercial “Beware of Dog” signs affixed to the front of the Pasman’s trailer should be 

considered, as they must, under the totality of the circumstances. 

Appellee further criticizes reliance upon Rowland v. Log Cabin, Inc., 658 N.W.2d 

76 (S.D. 2003).  In Rowland, following the totality of the circumstances test to determine 

foreseeability, this Court held that whether a reasonable person would have realized that a 

large Akita dog in a small bar with drunken patrons involved an unreasonable risk of 

harm is a question of fact for the jury. Where an injury is foreseeable, a duty may exist 

where not otherwise recognized.  McGuire v. Curry, 766 N.W.2d 501 (S.D. 2009). 

Here, the trial court focused on the assumed fact that since neither Blackburn nor 

Galvin admitted that they knew about the Pitbull, the Court granted summary judgment.  



 

In South Dakota, the factors to consider in the case of a dog, that are sufficient to 

establish that a dog is dangerous, are whether the dog constantly barked, bared its teeth, 

and strained at its’ leash.  Gehrts v. Batteen, 620 N.W.2nd 775 (S.D. 2000).  

 Here, a reasonable person would have realized that a large dangerous Pitbull, 

with a lifetime, spent being chained up on a leash, with neighbors that feared it, straining 

at its’ leash to bite the neighbor lady, barking at passersby, with two large “Beware of 

Dog” signs, when small children are running around the common areas and playing 

basketball on a basketball court directly in front of this dangerous Pitbull created an 

unreasonable risk of harm to those kids, and specifically K.R.B. It is also a question of 

fact for the jury.  Id.   

ISSUE V 

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN 

GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT. 

 

The South Dakota Supreme Court has repeatedly stated and specifically reiterated 

in dog bite cases that questions of negligence, contributory negligence, and assumption of 

the risk are all for the jury to determine in all but the rarest of cases so long as there is 

any evidence to support the case.  Rowland v. Log Cabin, Inc., 658 N.W.2d 76 (SD 

2003).  In Rowland, the Supreme Court reiterated that the duty to foresee a risk of harm 

(from a dog) is dependent upon all the surrounding facts and circumstances and may 

require further investigation or inquiry.  Rowland v. Log Cabin, Inc., 658 N.W. 2d 76 (SD 

2003).  

 The trial court at the summary judgment hearing improperly placed the burden on 

the plaintiffs to prove Blackburn and Galvin’s subjective knowledge.  The burden is not 

on the party resisting summary judgment to prove subjective knowledge of the adverse 



 

party.  The credibility of the denials of the alleged lack of knowledge must be determined 

by the jury and not resolved on a motion for summary judgment.  Continental Grain Co. 

v. Heritage Bank, 548 N.W2d 507 (S.D. 1996). Again, summary judgment requires not 

only that there be no genuine issue of material fact but also that there be no genuine 

issues of inferences to be drawn from those facts.  St. Onge Livestock Co., Ltd. v. Curtis, 

650 N.W.2d 537 (S.D. 2002).   

All the above demonstrates that abundant genuine issues of material fact exist in 

this case.  The factual determination by the trial court that neither Blackburn nor Galvin 

knew about the dog is contrary to sworn deposition testimony, sworn affidavit testimony, 

and at best is supported by equivocal and varied statements by Blackburn and Galvin.  At 

the very least, genuine issues of material fact exist in this case based upon the totality of 

the circumstances. This is not a case that can be decided on a motion for summary 

judgment.  S.D.C.L. 15-6-56(a).  Summary judgment is not a substitute for trial.  

CONCLUSION 

Based on the arguments above and the authorities cited, Burgi respectfully 

requests this Court reverse the trial court’s Order granting Summary Judgment and 

remand the matter back to the First Circuit for a trial on the merits.    
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